
































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
IAS

TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. 7. A

FROM: Matthew McElhenie, General Manager
Michael Burkey, Fire Chief

Meeting Date: January 8, 2026 Subject: Public Hearing and Consideration of Adoption of
Ordinance 01-2026 An Ordinance of the Board of
Directors of the Cambria Community Services
District Amending Chapter 6.04 of the Cambria
Community Services District's Municipal Code and
Adopting and Amending the 2025 California Fire
Code and the 2024 International Wildland Urban
Interface Code and Resolution 01-2026 Making
Findings Supporting Fire Code Amendments Based
on Local Conditions

FISCAL IMPACT:

No fiscal impact is anticipated related to the adoption of the updated California Fire Code, International
Wildland Urban Interface Code or associated local amendments.

DISCUSSION:

At its December 11, 2025 meeting, the Board of Directors introduced Ordinance 01-2026 as part of the
process of adopting and amending the 2025 California Fire Code and the 2024 International Wildland
Urban Interface Code. Ordinance 01-2026 is now being presented to the Board of Directors for
adoption. In accordance with the requirements of Health and Safety Code Sections 13869.7, 17958.7,
and 18941.5, Resolution 01-2026 makes certain required findings based upon climatic, geographical,
and topographical conditions in Cambria in support of the adoption of more restrictive fire and life
safety standards and requirements than those contained in the State’s Fire Code. The 2025 State Fire
Code went into effect on January 1, 2026.

Community service districts are authorized by Government Code Section 61100(d) to provide fire
protection services, pursuant to the provisions of Health and Safety Code Section 13800, et seq. Health
and Safety Code Section 13869.7 provides the procedure for adopting amendments to the State codes,
which includes the requirement that the ordinance be submitted to the County prior to noticing a
proposed ordinance for public hearing, as well as submittal of the ordinance after adoption to the
County Board of Supervisors for formal ratification. The adoption of codes by reference is also subject
to the requirements of Government Code Section 50022.1, et seq. The adoption procedure is somewhat
different than the procedure that otherwise applies to the adoption of an ordinance. Pursuant to
Government Code Section 50022.3, after the introduction of the ordinance, a noticed public hearing is
to be scheduled and held. Resolution 01-2026 and Ordinance 01-2026 were submitted to the County
after its introduction at the Board’s December 11, 2025 meeting and a notice of public hearing has been
published for today’s public hearing as required by law.

Ordinance 01-2026 amends provisions in Chapter 6.04 of the CCSD Municipal Code, readopts prior



and pertinent amendments to the previous version of the California Fire Code, the International
Wildland Urban Interface Code, and makes a number of technical amendments that weT331lso adopted
by San Luis Obispo County as part of their adoption of the 2025 California Fire Code — this was to
ensure that the CCSD’s Code is consistent with the County’s requirements.

Adoption of Ordinance 01-2026 will be followed by its submittal to the County for ratification by the
Board of Supervisors. Thereafter, it will be sent to the California Building Standards Commission for
official filing. Upon filing with the State, the new regulations and standards will be fully enforceable
within the Cambria Community Services District.

It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt Ordinance 01-2026, amending Chapter 6.04 of the
Cambria Community Services District’s Municipal Code and adopting and amending the 2025
California Fire Code and the 2024 International Wildland Urban Interface Code and Resolution 01-
2026.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance 01-2026
2. Resolution 01-2026
3. Exhibit A


https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823575/7A_-_2025_Fire_Code_Ordinance__Board_Approved_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823581/7A_-_Att_01_Resolution_01-2026__TC_Approved_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823776/7A_-_Att_02_Exhibit_A__TC_Approved_.pdf

ORDINANCE NO. 01-2026

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
DATE: JANUARY 8, 2026

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CAMBRIA COMMUNITY
SERVICES DISTRICT AMENDING CHAPTER 6.04 OF THE CAMBRIA COMMUNITY
SERVICES DISTRICT MUNICIPAL CODE AND ADOPTING AND AMENDING THE 2025
CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE AND THE 2024 INTERNATIONAL WILDLAND URBAN
INTERFACE CODE

The Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services District (CCSD) ordains as follows:

Section 1. Findings.

The Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services District, (hereinafter referred to as
“District”), hereby makes the following findings of fact:

A. Section 13869 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California, Article 2 (commencing
with section 50022) of Chapter 1 of Part 1 of Division 1 of Title 5 of the Government Code, and
61100(d) of the Government Code, authorize the Cambria Community Services District to adopt
an Ordinance, which incorporates by reference fire prevention codes, and amendments.

B. The California Code of Regulations/CA Buildings and Standards Code, Title 24, Part 9 which
includes the California Fire Code, is adopted by order of the California Legislature with
supplements published in intervening years.

C. The latest edition of the California Buildings and Standards Code was published in 2025 and has
the force of law beginning January 1, 2026.

D. This Ordinance will repeal the current fire codes and all other previously adopted fire codes and
amendments. This Ordinance will adopt and amend the 2025 California Fire Code, and the 2024
International Wildland Urban Interface Code as published by the International Code Council, and
will include annual supplements and State amendments and errata.

E. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Sections 13869.7, 17958.7 and 18941.5 the Board
has adopted Resolution No. 01-2026 making specific findings that because of unique climatic,
geological, and topographical conditions that exist in Cambria, that the amendments to the
adopted codes are necessary to protect life, health, property and the environment of the citizens of
Cambria.

Section 2. Section 6.04.010 of the Cambria Community Services District Municipal Code is
hereby amended as follows:

“6.04.010 -- Adoption of the 2025 edition of the California Fire Code and the 2024 International
Wildland Urban Interface Code.

Except as provided in 6.04.040, all articles and appendices of the 2025 California Fire Code and the 2024
edition of the International Wildland Urban Interface Code are adopted, including annual supplements,
State amendments and errata.”

174



Section 3. Section 6.04.040 of the Cambria Community Services District Municipal Code is hereby
amended as follows:

“Section 6.04.040 -- Amendments and Exceptions to the 2025 California Fire Code (CFC) and the
2024 International Wildland Urban Interface Code (IWUIC).

Pursuant to Resolution No. 01-2026, the Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services District
found that because certain unique local climatic, geological and topographical conditions exist within the
District, more stringent building standards relating to fire and public safety than those standards adopted
by the State Fire Marshal, and contained in the California Building Standards Code are necessary for
adequate fire protection within the District. Resolution No. 01-2026 and the findings contained therein
are hereby incorporated herein by this reference. The following amendments and exceptions to the
California Fire Code, 2025 edition, are therefore hereby made:

CFC SECTION 101 SCOPE AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

CFC Section 101.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 101.1 Title These regulations shall be
known as the Fire Code of the Cambria Community Services District.

CFC SECTION 107 FEES

CFC Section 107.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 107.1 Fees. Fees are specified in the
Cambria Community Services District Fee Schedule for District Services, as previously adopted by the
Board of Directors.

CFC SECTION 112 MEANS OF APPEALS

CFC Section 112.1is hereby amended to read as follows: 112.1. Board of appeals established. In
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made by the fire code official
relative to the application and interpretation of this code, there shall be and hereby created a board of
appeals. The board of appeals shall be the Cambria Community Services District Board of Directors.
The fire chief or their designated official shall be an ex officio member, but will not be permitted to
vote on any issues before the board. The board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its
business, and shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a duplicate copy to
the fire code official. The appeals process requires a four-to-six-week period to allow for scheduling of
a public hearing.

CFC SECTION 202 GENERAL DEFINITIONS

CFC Section 202 General Definitions, the definition of “Floor Area”, is added to read as follows:
Floor Area. For the purpose of calculating square footage for the application of fire sprinkler
requirements and fire flow requirements, the floor area shall include all combustible areas attached to
the structure, including garages, patio covers, workshops and alterations, additions and remodel square
footage will be considered a combined and cumulative sum of floor area.

CFC Section 202 General Definitions, the definition of “Fuel Modification”, is added to read as
follows: Fuel Modification. A method of modifying fuel load by reducing the amount of non-fire
resistive vegetation or altering the type of vegetation to reduce the fuel load.

175



CFC SECTION 307.4.2 RECREATIONAL FIRES

CFC Section 307.4.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 307.4.2 Recreational Fires.
Recreational fires are prohibited.

Exception: Recreational fires may be permitted in approved, non-combustible, commercially built
containers measuring no more than 3 feet in diameter and 2 feet tall, raised at least 6 inches off the
ground with non-combustible legs, and equipped with a functional non-combustible spark arrester
screen with openings no larger than 1/4 inch. The ground beneath this container shall be clear of
combustible material for a 10-foot diameter and located at least 10 feet away from any combustible
construction. Only clean, dry wood may be burned — pressure-treated lumber is not permitted. A pre-
connected garden hose must be accessible.

CFC SECTION 311 VACANT PREMISES

CFC Section 311.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 311.1.3 Securing Premises. The owner,
occupant or other persons having under their control of any property, or materials on property, damaged
by fire, when access by the public is possible, shall secure the property either by boarding up all
openings, fencing, barricading or other appropriate measures as directed the fire chief, or his/her
designee, within 24 hours of the incident.

CFC SECTION 405 EMERGENCY EVACUATION DRILLS

CFC Section 405.8 is hereby amended to read as follows: 405.8 Initiation. Where a fire alarm
system is provided, emergency evacuation drills shall be initiated by activating the fire alarm system.
Prior to initiating an alarm, the person initiating the alarm shall contact the fire alarm monitoring
company and advise the company’s dispatcher of the fire drill. In cases where the fire alarm system is
not monitored by a central station, notification shall be provided to the fire department dispatch center.

CFC SECTION 503 FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROADS

CFC Section 503.1.2.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 503.1.2.1.1 Developments of multi-
dwelling units. where the number of dwelling units exceeds 30 shall be provided with two separate
and approved fire apparatus access roads when located in located in a state responsibility area or a very
high fire hazard severity zone.

CFC Sections 503.2.9, 503.2.9.1, 503.2.9.2 and 503.2.9.3 are hereby added to read as follows:
503.2.9 Driveway. Driveway specifications shall be provided for the fire plan review process.

503.2.9.1 Driveway width:

LENGTH REQUIRED WIDTH
0-199 Feet 12 Feet
Greater than 200 Feet 14 feet

503.2.9.2 Turnarounds. Turnarounds must be provided if driveway exceeds 300 feet, and shall be
within 50 feet of the building. For driveways exceeding 300 feet, a turnaround shall be at the building
site and must be within 50 feet of the dwelling.

176



Section 503.2.9.3 Turnouts. For driveways exceeding 800 feet, turnouts shall be provided no more
than 400 feet apart. Driveways exceeding 150 feet in length, but less than 800 feet in length, shall
provide a turnout near the midpoint of the driveway. A turnout shall be provided near the midpoint and
shall be a minimum of 10 feet wide and 30 feet long with a minimum 25-foot taper on each end.

CFC SECTION 505 PREMISES IDENTIFICATION

CFC Section 505.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: Section 505.1 Address Identification.
New and existing buildings shall have approved address Identification. The address identification shall
be legible and placed in a position that is visible from the street or road fronting the property. Address
identification characters shall contrast with their backgrounds and be reflective material. Address
numbers shall be Arabic numbers or alphabetical letters. Numbers shall not be spelled out. Each
character shall be a minimum of: 6" inches for residential, 8" inches for commercial, and 10" inches in
height for industrial with a minimum stroke width on 'z inch. Where required by the fire code official,
address identification shall be provided in additional approved locations to facilitate emergency
response. Where access is by means of a private road and the building address cannot be viewed from
the public way, a monument, pole or other approved sign or means shall be used to identify the
structure.

CFC SECTION 605 FUEL-FIRED APPLIANCES

CFC Section 605.5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 605.5 Portable unvented heaters.
Portable unvented fuel-fired heating equipment shall be prohibited in all occupancies and in all groups.
All flammable and combustible fueled heaters that are not vented to the outside of a building are
included in this section.

CFC SECTION 903 AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEMS

CFC Sections 903.2 is hereby amended to read as follows, including the following Table 903.2.1,
903.2.1 References, 903.2.2 and 903.2.2 Reference:

903.2 Where required:

TABLE 903.2.1 - AUTOMATIC FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION

STRUCTURE | SPRINKLERS | DESCRIPTION SQUARE FOOTAGE 1 MIN. DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS USE EXCEPTIONS
TYPE REQUIRED 2 BETWEEN EXAMPLES
STRUCTURES
AND PROPERTY
LINE (PL)
MIN MAX
New Yes New buildings 0 Per CBC, CRC Throughout new All new Exceptions 2, 3, 4
Construction including mobile buildings construction
homes and and dwellings
commercial
coaches 1
Residential Yes Accessory 1,000 3,000 50 feet from PL No heating, cooling, One story Exception 1
Accessory structures as living or 30 feet garage,
Structure defined in CRC between any structure workshop,
on site studio,
residential

177




storage
building
Agricultural Yes Accessory to 3,000 5,000 100 feet from PL, Primary usage must be | One story barn Exception 1
Structure agricultural 50 feet from other 75% livestock or crops or stables
operation, structures
livestock, crops.
Agricultural
operations in
accordance with
AGLUO & CBC
definition
Pole barn, No One story hay Unlimited if 60 feet on all 100 feet from PL, No public use or See None
Covered storage, covered sides per CBC 50 feet from other access description
arena, riding arena, structures
Greenhouse greenhouses
Agricultural No LUOA Ag 0 3,000 100 feet from PL, Per Ag exempt Ag - Barn on See Title 19
Exempt (no Exempt & 50 feet from other agreement Ag zoned land
permit Signed affidavit structures over 20 acres
required)

Table 903.2.1 References:

CRC: California

CFC: California CBC: California LUO: Land Use

Residential Code Fire Code Building Code Ordinance (San
Luis Obispo
County)
Footnotes:

1.

2.

For the purpose of calculating square footage for the application of fire sprinkler requirements and
fire flow requirements, the floor area shall include all combustible areas attached to the structure,
including garages, patio covers, and workshops.

Automatic Fire Sprinklers installed at exterior locations shall be approved corrosion resistant
devices when environmental or operational conditions warrant.

Exceptions:

1.

Structures between the minimum and the maximum square footage must meet all the above table
criteria and all the following are required in lieu of fire sprinklers: = no conditioned or habitable
space, ® no second stories (lofts 1/3 the floor area and open to below are allowed), * minimum two
exits including one pedestrian door (side hinge swinging door), = workshops or offices limited to
10% of floor area, = dedicated fire water storage minimum of 5,000 gallons steel tank in full
compliance with NFPA 1142 (see fire safety plan) if there is no community provided fire hydrant
within 500 ft., = structure complies with the California Wildland Urban-Interface Ignition Resistant
Construction Requirements, = Cannot be used as a place of employment or for public
assemblage/events. » Cannot be used as a commercial building.

A single-story building or commercial coach where floor area does not exceed 1000 square feet and
the occupancy is not a Group A, E Daycare, F1 Woodworking, group R, Group H, Group I
occupancy or any occupancy where cellulose nitrate film, pyroxylin plastics or any hazardous
materials manufactured, stored or handled in quantities in excess of Tables in CBC, CFC and the
fire flow from a hydrant is less than 750gpm at 20psi.

178




3. Mobile/manufactured or factory-built homes or commercial coaches constructed or altered on or
before March 12, 2011 which were not manufactured with automatic fire sprinklers.

4. Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for
the primary residence.

TABLE 903.2.2 - AUTOMATIC FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS FOR EXISTING

CONSTRUCTION
OCCUPANCY | SPRINKLERS Description SQURES | REQUIREMENTS USE EXCEPTIONS
OR REQUIRED 3 FOOTAGE EXAMPLES
STRUCTURAL 1
MODIFICATION
TYPE
Alterations 1 Yes, if... Alteration includes 50% or Alterations, Interior remodels Exceptions
modifications to more of additions and Rehabilitations 1,2,3,4
the structure existing remodel square
floor area 2 footage will be
considered a
combined and
cumulative sum of
floor area
Additions 1 Yes, if... Additions 1,000 square Alterations, Any addition Exception 4
cumulative from feet or 50% additions and
January 01, 2008 | of floor area remodel square
regardless of any 2 footage will be
change of considered a
ownership combined and
cumulative sum of
floor area
Hazard Category Yes Change results in Any Hazard classification Any change of None
and Occupancy higher hazard or as rating as determined | occupancy defined
Classification deemed necessary by the fire code in Chapter 3 of the
Changes by fire code official, and CBC
official and occupancy
building official classification as
determined by the
building official.
Hazardous Yes Cellulose nitrate Any Building and any Any occupancy None
Materials Inside film or pyroxylin portion of a building
Buildings plastic or any must also include
hazardous requirements as
materials listed in CFC
manufactured, Chapter 50
stored or handled
in quantities in
excess of Tables in
CBC, CFC

Table 903.2.2 References:

CRC: California Residential CFC: California Fire Code = CBC: California Building
Code Code

179



Footnotes:

1.

For the purpose of calculating square footage for the application of fire sprinkler requirements and
fire flow requirements, the floor area shall include all combustible areas attached to the structure,
including garages, patio covers and workshops.

Fire sprinklers are required when all ceiling coverings are removed, or a project reaches the
threshold of 50% of addition or alteration; determination of fire sprinklers shall be made by one of
the following methods: 1) By net floor area: Any room(s) or area(s) that are added, altered,
rehabilitated or repaired shall have their net floor area calculated and compared to the total net floor
area of the existing structure to find the calculated percentage. 2) By surface area: Surface area shall
be defined as surfaces of walls and ceilings. Any room(s) or area(s) that are added, altered,
rehabilitated or repaired shall have their surface area calculated compared to the total wall and
ceiling surface area of the existing structure to find the calculated percentage. Note: Change(s) in
project scope after the plan review process shall require that the fire sprinkler calculation be revised
and submitted for review and approval.

Automatic Fire Sprinklers installed at exterior locations shall be approved corrosion resistant
devices when environmental conditions warrant.

Mobile/manufactured or factory-built homes or commercial coaches constructed or altered on or
before March 12, 2011 which were not manufactured with automatic fire sprinklers are not subject
to fire sprinkler requirements.

Exceptions:

1.

Alterations limited to only one of the following: replacement of exterior coverings and windows,
roofing, electrical services, sewer laterals, retaining walls, or routine plumbing, electrical and
mechanical repairs.

A loft open to the floor below and no more than one third of the floor area of the room below may
be added without requiring sprinklers.

REPAIR is the reconstruction or renewal for the purpose of maintenance.

Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for
the primary residence. Footnote 2 determination is required.

CFC SECTION 907 FIRE ALARM AND DETECTION SYSTEMS

CFC Section 907.10.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 907.10.1 False Alarms. False alarms
exceeding 3 per calendar year are subject to citation and cost recovery.

CFC SECTION 5609 SEIZURE OF FIREWORKS

CFC Section 5609.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: Section 5609.1 General. The fire chief or
his/her designee shall have authority to seize, take and remove fireworks stored, sold, offered for sale, used
or handled in violation of the provisions of Title 19, California Code of Regulations, Chapter 6 and the
California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 9. This shall include Safe and Sane fireworks as well as
specified in amended section 5601.

180



IWUIC SECTION 504 CLASS 1 IGNITION-RESISTANT CONSTRUCTION

IWUIC Section 504.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 504.1 General. Class | ignition-resistant
construction shall be required for all new and remodel construction and shall be in accordance with Sections
504.2 through 504.11.

Section 4. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances:

All former ordinances or parts thereof conflicting or inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance or
the Code or Standards that were previously adopted are hereby repealed.

Section S. Severability:

If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, or clause of this Ordinance or any part thereof
is for any reason held to be unlawful, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of
this Ordinance or any part thereof. The Board of Directors hereby declares that it would have passed each
section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, or clause thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one
or more section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, or clause be declared invalid or
unconstitutional.

Section 6. Effective Date:

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its approval, as provided by law. Within
thirty (30) days of passage, this Ordinance shall be published one time in a newspaper of general
circulation published within the Cambria Community Services District’s jurisdictional boundaries, together
with the names of said Board Members voting for and against the Ordinance.

On the motion of Director , seconded by Director , and the following roll
call vote, to wit:

AYES:
NAYS:
ABSENT:

Ordinance No. 01-2026 is hereby adopted.

President, Board of Directors

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:
Haley Dodson Timothy J. Carmel
Confidential Administrative Assistant District Counsel

181



RESOLUTION 01-2026
January 8, 2026

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT MAKING FINDINGS PURSUANT TO
CALIFORNIA HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE SECTIONS 13869.7, 17958.7, and 18941.5 RELATED TO
THE ADOPTION OF AMENDMENTS TO THE 2025 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE AND THE 2024
INTERNATIONAL WILDLAND URBAN INTERFACE CODE

WHEREAS, it is the responsibility and duty of the Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services
District to provide citizens with the greatest degree of protection from fire; and

WHEREAS, the California Fire Code, Title 24, Part 9, is adopted every three (3) years by order of the California
Legislature with supplements published in intervening years; and

WHEREAS, the latest edition of the California Building and Standards Code was published this year and has the
force of law beginning January 1, 2026; and

WHEREAS, Ordinance 01-2026 will amend Section 6.04.010, et seq., of the Cambria Community Services
District (CCSD) Municipal Code to adopt and amend the 2025 California Fire Code, and the 2024 International
Wildland Urban Interface Code; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services District desires to make findings as
required by the California Health and Safety Code Sections 13869.7, 17958.7, and 18941.5 that because of unique
climatic, geographical and topographical conditions that exist within Cambria, the amendments to the adopted
codes are necessary to protect the public’s life, health, the community environment and property.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Cambria Community Services
District as follows:

1. That the recitals set forth hereinabove are true, correct, valid and incorporated into the body hereof by this
reference.

2. Based upon the facts contained in “Exhibit A,” the Board of Directors hereby makes findings that due to
unique climatic, geographical and topographical conditions that exist within Cambria, the amendments to the
2025 Edition of the California Fire Code, and the 2024 Edition of the International Wildland Urban Interface
Code, as set forth in Ordinance 01-2026, are necessary to protect the life, health, community, environment
and property within the CCSD. That said Exhibit A, entitled “Cambria Community Services District Fire
Department 2025 California Fire Code Amendment Findings,” a copy of which is on file in the Cambria
Community Services District administrative offices located at 2150 Main Street, #1-A, Cambria, CA 93428,
and is available there for public inspection, be and hereby is approved and adopted in the form set forth in
said “Exhibit A.”

The foregoing Resolution 01-2026 was adopted at a Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Cambria
Community Services District on January 8, 2026.

AYES:

NAYS:
ABSENT:

182



ATTEST:

Harry Farmer
President, Board of Directors

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Haley Dodson
Confidential Administrative Assistant

Timothy J. Carmel
District Counsel

183



“EXHIBIT A” to Resolution 01-2026
CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FIRE DEPARTMENT
2025 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE FINDINGS

Pursuant to Sections 13869.7, 17958.7 and 18941.5 of the California Health and Safety Code, the report contained
herein shall be facts and the findings document to support proposed Cambria Community Services District
Ordinance No. 01-2026. Under said ordinance, specific amendments have been established which are more
restrictive in nature than those sections adopted by the State of California and contained in Title 24 of the
California Code of Regulations.

The amendments to the 2025 edition of the California Fire Code (which is part of the California Code of
Regulations/California Buildings and Standards Code, Title 24, Part 9), and the 2024 edition of the International
Wildland Urban Interface Code will apply to the Cambria Community Services District. The amendments address
the unique fire problems, concerns, and future directions, by which this District can establish and maintain an
environment which will deliver an adequate level of fire and life safety protection to its citizens and visitors.

Under the provisions of Sections 13869.7, 17958.7 and 18941.5 of the Health and Safety Code, local amendments
shall be based on climatic, geographical, or topographical conditions. The findings contained herein shall address
each of these situations and shall present the local situation, which, either singularly or in combination, cause the
need for the amendments to be adopted.

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY PROFILE

In 1866, the Town of Cambria was established. Cambria encompasses an area of approximately 5 square miles,
with a residential population of approximately 6,500. The physical location of Cambria is 1 mile north of Highway
46 West on California Highway 1 and immediately south of San Simeon Creek Road and California Highway 1,
immediately adjacent to the Pacific Ocean. The majority of Cambria contains single-family residential housing,
two distinct business areas, numerous hotels, motels and bed and breakfasts, as well as an elementary school, a
middle school and a high school, and a small commercial business area. Housing areas are spread across Cambria
at elevations ranging from 10 to 600 feet above sea level.

Traversing through Cambria is California State Highway 1 and the Pacific Ocean to the West. Another unique
factor that can create a barrier is the possibility of an earthquake collapsing the Santa Rosa Creek bridges and San
Simeon Creek Bridge, which would restrict access for emergency equipment.

Based on this profile of Cambria, the Cambria Community Services District Fire Department (CCSDFD)
established certain requirements to increase the level of fire safety to the citizens and visitors of Cambria, as well
as the buildings and property within its boundaries. The following points are factors which cause concern to the
CCSDFD and are herein established and submitted as the findings:

1. CLIMATIC

The climate and weather patterns within Cambria are considered to be directly affected by the onshore
winds from the Pacific Ocean, located immediately to the West. Normal rainfall averages 20-25 inches
annually. During the winter rainy periods Cambria has the potential to experience flooding. The West
business district flooded several years ago, interrupting emergency service response to this area and other
parts of the community. During these flooding events it would be imperative that the community has
automatic fire suppression systems to extinguish or control a fire to which the CCSDFD has a delayed
response. During the summer and fall months, temperatures average approximately 68 degrees and can
exceed 80 degrees for a period of days. Dry winds can remove the moisture from vegetation. Cambria
has also experienced periods of drought which push fuel moisture levels to significantly low levels for

1
184



long periods of time. It is well documented that coastal fuel models do not respond well to long periods
of drought and low fuel moisture. Secondary to recent drought activity, it is estimated that there exists a
greater than 60 percent tree mortality rate in the Cambria Pine Forest. During late summer and fall, winds
can move a fire quickly across the hills and/or through residential and commercial areas of Cambria.

Because of weather patterns and limited water sources Cambria (like few other California communities)
has long established and participated in water conservation programs to prevent water rationing. During
some years water rationing and limitations on water use has been instituted and required. Water
availability may be further limited in the future due to limited storage Capacity and increased
consumption, as well as the climatic conditions which further impact the already minimal annual rainfall.
Cambria’s present water storage capacity is adequate for response to a single structure fire. Cambria
experiences periods of low humidity, high temperature and winds each year. The age of the Cambria Pine
Forest combined with diseases such as Pine Pitch Canker and infestations from Bark Beetle, create an
environment where catastrophic wildland and resultant structural fires can occur. These conditions can
create a situation where the Fire Department would commit limited resources to attempt to control and
extinguish fire(s). The coastal fuel model types that are prevalent in and around Cambria are GR-6, GR-
7, and TU-5. As mentioned above, these fuel model types have a scientific history of poor recovery from
drought or low humidity and warm, dry wind conditions. In these known fuel types, it is well documented
and observed that flying brands or burning embers from any fire can and will ignite many new fires. Since
this is an obvious risk to our community, we must embrace ignition resistant exterior building construction
features that protect the occupants as well as the surrounding wildland urban interface and intermix areas
from this ever-present fire threat. These climatic conditions set the stage for potentially disastrous wildfire
occurrences and threaten the public safety of the community. Cambria has not experienced a significant
wildfire in over 130 years. While sound management of the water resources is possible, actual demands
on our water supply have and will most assuredly increase.

GEOLOGICAL

The geologic features offered by Cambria give residents and visitors alike great scenic appeal. The
coastline along the Pacific Ocean is emerging and is a rocky coast. The area in and around Cambria has
considerable evidence of prior seismic activity. During the last several years earthquakes centered in
Parkfield, San Simeon and Templeton have caused significant seismic activity within Cambria. Several
active faults are located to the East of Cambria and could result in damage occurring to the community.
The disruption of streets and roadways due to seismic damage could delay the arrival of emergency fire
response and allow fires to quickly escalate beyond the fire department’s ability to suppress them. The
installation of automatic fire suppression systems will allow the ability for the system to take action prior
to the fire department’s arrival. The potential for severe damage does exist for the entire built environment
in the community but respective distances to such faults may limit damage in new construction where
damage to older existing structures could be serious.

Although the CCSDFD and water system in Cambria are currently rated Class-4/4x by the Insurance
Services Offices (ISO) it is possible that major fire flow requirements could be disrupted and automatic
fire suppression systems requiring much less water would be the only means of extinguishment. Recent
improvements to the community’s water storage system have occurred; however, our community remains
below current acceptable standards for the required amount for fire protection. The Cambria Community
Services District (CCSD) is currently working toward a multi-year plan to improve the community water
storage shortfall. Until a more reliable and permanent supplemental water supply is secured, Cambria is
in and will remain in a water shortage emergency.

The potential for earthquakes influences fire protection planning. A major seismic event would create a
community-wide demand on fire protection services, which would be beyond the response capability of

2
185



the fire department. Near shore and long-distance Tsunami’s can and would flood and damage large
sections of Cambria. During flooding events it is well documented that building and other fires can and
often do occur. This potential problem can be partially mitigated by requiring initial fire control through
the installation of automatic fire protection systems. Extinguishing systems are instrumental in controlling
or extinguishing fires in buildings in the event the water system is operating and undamaged by the seismic
event. This increases the availability of firefighting resources to handle other emergencies during and after
seismic events.

The geological layout of Cambria’s hillside areas creates hazardous conditions should a storm or
earthquake cause trees to fall and block roadways making access difficult or impossible until properly
cleared. Landslides also frequently occur which can block ingress and egress. These conditions have
occurred in the past and will happen again.

TOPOGRAPHIC

The topographic element of this report is associated closely with the geological element noted above.
While the geological features create the topographic conditions, the areas of findings in this Section are a
result of the construction and design of Cambria.

As the tourism activity in Cambria increases and parking lots fill with customers, delivery vehicles tend
to double-park and add to congestion, which increases response times for emergency equipment. Most of
the roadway system in Cambria is below current access standards and pose challenges for responding
emergency vehicles. Vegetation grows near or over the roadways' edge and are prone to erosion,
landslides, and blockages by falling trees. These conditions have impacted the timely delivery of
emergency fire response to the community. Local residents and visitors parking on or adjacent to already
sub-standard streets create access problems and blockages for fire and emergency services. The
requirement for automatic fire suppression systems, defensible space, ignition resistant exterior
construction features and improved fire access would support the fire and life safety response.

California Highway 1 completely traverses Cambria, creating a potential “barrier” to emergency response
teams. All roads must pass over Highway 1, which could be sensitive to collapse in the event of an
earthquake. In this instance, Cambria could be physically divided.

The value of the land in Cambria is near the top in the County. Maximum usage of the land is important
to property owners, investors and developers. The most effective method of achieving this is to allow large
homes on small lots with Pine trees and vegetation all around the structures. In numerous cases property
is very sparingly cleared and a single residential dwelling is built in its place.

The town of Cambria is currently designated by Cal Fire’s updated 2022 Fire Hazard Severity Zones
mapping system as Very High as it relates to wildland fire hazard probabilities. The rural nature of the
town and the fact that a significant wildland fire has not occurred here in over 133 years places the
community and visitors at significant risk. Narrow roads and steep hillsides increase response times and
delay fire suppression efforts. The accumulation of combustible trees, dead vegetation, brush and grass
create significant hazards and pose a severe burden on emergency response by the fire department. The
potential for multiple fires would quickly overtax the CCSDFD ability to adequately provide service. The
hillside location of homes, and the grouping together of numerous homes in a small area, also creates
service delivery problems for the department. Fires occurring in these homes have a greater potential to
spread to the wildland and therefore would expose additional structures to loss by fire.

The physical isolation of the town of Cambria places neighboring fire departments significant distances
away. When fire mutual aid is needed, the 30-minute average response time for neighboring jurisdictions
3
186



to arrive from the East and South allows a significant amount of time for fires to grow and exceed the
resource capability of the responding adjacent fire equipment. Therefore, requirements for built-in fire
protection, defensible space, fuel reduction, ignition resistant exterior building features and improved
access would significantly improve the fire and life safety for the residents and visitors of Cambria.

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

The CCSDFD is charged with the task of providing a reasonable degree of fire and life safety protection
to the citizens and visitors to our town. The continued development and growth of Cambria, as it relates
to the delivery of fire protection, are of major concern if we are to continue to provide even a minimum
level of fire protection to our community.

These findings address the problem of community growth and cost of fire control while offering an
alternative approach to the continually growing demand for publicly funded fire protection services.

A report by the Institute for Local Self-Government entitled “Alternative to Traditional Public Safety
Delivery Systems,” finds that a fire chief must move toward built-in private fire protection equipment and
systems if they are to control the fire department’s operational budget, and adequately address the
community fire protection problem.

This study, using guidelines from the Institute for Local Self-Government and the National Fire Protection
Association, proposed that the fire department control fires in all new structures built within their
jurisdiction. This could be accomplished by using an established emergency response assignment that will
not create a deficiency in the fire protection services currently offered to the already established
community.

The CCSDFD’s emergency response assignment varies, depending on Reserve Firefighter availability and
FEMA SFAER grant funded Firefighters. Most Fire Departments, within San Luis Obispo County,
consider three engine companies, a truck company, an EMS unit (paramedics), breathing support unit and
a Chief Officer to be a minimum emergency response assignment for a single-family structure fire.

The CCSDFD’s current daily staffing, for immediate emergency response, includes three-to-four
personnel on a single Engine Company, a Fire Chief during daily business hours, and an Automatic Aid
response of a three-to-four-person Engine Company from CAL Fire/San Luis Obispo County Fire Station
10 (when available). Other agency resources within San Luis Obispo County are also available for mutual
aid response, however, there is a significant time delay due to Cambria’s isolation from these additional
resources. It then seems only reasonable that new structures constructed or added onto, in Cambria, be
protected by built-in fire protection systems. The criteria for controlling the cost of fire protection in the
CCSD is to cause (by ordinance) new structures, regardless of type of construction or occupancy, to be
equipped with automatic fire sprinklers.

The amending and adoption of the 2025 California Fire Code, and the 2024 International Wildland Urban
Interface Code, will help provide an increased level of protection from fire to the public. The adoption of
these Codes, together with the amendments, provides a reasonable and established means of adequately
protecting life, the environment and property in Cambria.

These findings and future fire code provisions of the same kind reduce the need for large additions to
publicly funded fire protection and allow the CCSD to grow with reasonable expansion of the CCSDFD.
They also place fire protection and prevention in the community where the benefit can be realized much
quicker and with greater benefit.

187



While smoke detectors are intended to provide an early warning that allows occupants to escape or defend
themselves from the hazard of fire, automatic sprinklers are meant to control or extinguish a developing
fire and to enable occupants to better escape. Automatic sprinklers are designed to respond quickly to
suppress a fire early in the fire’s development stages. This will allow for the suppression or extinguishment
of a fire, and still leave a breathable atmosphere for occupants to safely exit the building. Automatic fire
sprinklers can also contain the fire to the building of origin, and therefore potentially keep the fire from
spreading to the exterior wildland environment.

Based on these findings, Ordinance No. 01-2026 will provide effective protection of the residents, the
environment, as well as property, and help reduce the ravages of fire.

It should also be noted these findings are only a part of the total CCSD master fire protection plan. This
may be one of the single most important elements toward the progressive improvement of the delivery of
fire and life safety/protection services.

While the adoption of stringent regulations may not prevent all incidents of fire or deaths from fire, the
implementation of the various codes and/or requirements will reduce the severity and potential for the loss

of life, damage to the environment and property damage in our community.

Prepared and submitted by: Michael Burkey, Cambria Fire Chief

188



CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. 8.A.
FROM: Matthew McElhenie, General Manager
Meeting Date: January 8, 2026 Subject: General Manager’s Report

The District continues to provide water, wastewater collection and treatment, emergency response, facilities,
and administrative services. The following is an update on some of our ongoing projects and activities.

Update on Federal Funding for Fire Apparatus Replacement Project

We have made substantial progress on the USDA grant application seeking federal funding for the Fire
Apparatus Replacement Project. Earlier this month, we met with USDA representatives and Congressman
Panetta’s office and completed the necessary preliminary requirements to initiate the procurement process for
the replacement of aging fire apparatus that are essential to the Cambria Fire Department’s emergency response
operations.

Meet the General Manager

On Thursday, January 22, 2026, from 8:30 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., I will be working out of the Cambria Veterans'
Memorial Hall and would love to meet you and hear your thoughts on everything, Cambria. We will provide
coffee and snacks, and as always, I welcome your feedback and ideas.

Cambria Community Services District Public Record Requests
The Cambria Community Services District has received two Public Records Act (PRA) requests.

1. 12/5/2025 Tina Dickason: Please provide any and all district costs, including copies of invoices
associated with brine waste disposal, trucked to SLO South Sanitation District, in Oceano. Please provide
any and all district costs, including copies of invoices associated with trucking brine waste from Cambria,
using Speed's Oil Tool Services in Santa Maria, to SLO South Sanitation District, Oceano.

12/12/2025 District’s Response: The responsive documentation, available electronically, is attached.

The remaining responsive records are in paper form and are available for inspection at the CCSD
Administration Office, located at 2150 Main Street, Suite 1-A, Cambria, between 10:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m.,
Monday through Thursday, and every other Friday. Should you wish to obtain copies of invoices or other paper
records, you will need to pay the applicable duplication fees as outlined in the CCSD fee schedule.

2. 12/9/2025 Nathan Reasons: Hello, I originally submitted this request to SLO County and they referred

me here. Respectfully requesting fire flow data for the project, we are planning in Cambria. At 2535 Main
Street. See attached map for Hydrants that could be Tested and further information.

12/16/2025 District’s Response: The fire flow data for this project is attached.

189


https://www.cambriacsd.org/cambria-csd-awarded-935-000-in-federal-funding-for-fire-apparatus-replacement-project

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

TO: Board of Directors

FROM:

Denise Fritz, Administrative Department Manager

AGENDA NO. 8.C.

Meeting Date: January 8, 2026

Subject: Finance Manager’s Report

EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2025

The Expenditure Report for December 2025 is being submitted to the CCSD Board of Directors in today’s
meeting (see Agenda Item 5.A.). The report includes a detailed listing and monthly subtotal for each Accounts
Payable vendor, as well as a summary of each department’s monthly expenditures.

CCSD DIRECTOR MEETINGS & COMPENSATION FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2025

Per the CCSD Board Bylaws, CCSD Directors may receive compensation of $100 for each meeting attended, up
to a maximum of $600 each month. The table below shows the month of the meeting being compensated for, the
number of meetings attended for the month of compensation, and the total compensation paid for each CCSD

Director.
Number of Amount Per
Director Name Meeting Month Compensated . Total
. Meeting
Meetings

Dean, Karen DECEMBER 3 $100.00 $300
Farmer, Harry OCT/NOV 8 $100.00 $800
Gray, Tom DEC 2 $100.00 $200
Scott, Debra 0 $100.00 $0
Thomas, Michael NOV/DEC 6 $100.00 $600
Total $1,900

AVAILABLE CASH BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2025

The total available cash is listed as follows:

Account Type - Operating Balance
Main Checking $1,354,253.77
Total $1,354,253.77
Account Type - Investments Balance
Money Market $4,429.80
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) $1,935,808.49
CAMP $1,576.23

US Bank — Investment Fund $6,786,659.17
Total $8,728,473.69

Available cash is the balance in the Main Checking Account and the Investment Funds. As of December 31, 2025,
the total available cash was $10,082,727.46.

190



INVESTMENT ACCOUNT BALANCES FY 25/26

$8,000,000.00
$7,000,000.00
$6,000,000.00
$5,000,000.00
$4,000,000.00
$3,000,000.00
$2,000,000.00
$1,000,000.00 /\/\

S-

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

s \oney Market LAIF US Bank e CAMP

The total available cash in all restricted accounts is listed as follows:

Account Type - Restricted Balance

The Bank of New York Mellon $5,775,439.67
Payroll $8,171.86
Veterans’ Hall $18,858.38
Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) $72,865.11
Total $5,875,335.02

Currently, the CCSD has adequate resources to meet its cash commitments. Staff will continue to be frugal in
purchases, postpone non-critical purchases, and carefully monitor their respective budget(s).

The following is the Bank of New York Mellon account activity for the SST projects.

191



Fund: 12 - WASTEWATER FUND

Revenue

12-43980-12

Expense

12-61701-12
12-61702-12
12-61703-12
12-61704-12
12-61705-12
12-61706-12
12-61707-12
12-61708-12
12-61709-12

LOAN PROCEEDS - WW COP 2022A BONDS
INTEREST EARNINGS

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 1 FLOW EQUAL IMPV

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 2 INFLUENT LIFT STN IMPV

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 3 MLW AERATION BASIN UPGRD

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 4 BLOWER REPLACEMENT

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 5 RAS & WAS IMPV

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 7 ELECTRICAL IMPV SERVICE PANEL

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 8 GENERATOR REPLACEMENT

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 9 SCADA SYSTEM UPGRADE

CAP ASSET - WW ECM 12 IMPV TO WW LIFT STATIONS
Expense Total:

Net

Variance

Current Fiscal Prior Year Total Project Favorable

Total Budget Activity Activity Activity to Date  (Unfavorable)
12,100,000 2,133,397 4,330,336 6,463,733 5,636,267
139,172 - - - 139,172
12,239,172 2,133,397 4,330,336 6,463,733 5,775,440
3,791,224 727,257 1,444,062 2,171,319 1,619,905
46,512 16,198 56,662 72,860 (26,348)
2,419,093 591,163 823,574 1,414,737 1,004,356
603,329 91,839 321,130 412,969 190,360
1,290,972 111,042 602,989 714,031 576,941
554,687 77,234 246,127 323,361 231,326
925,404 162,047 377,332 539,379 386,025
1,148,557 356,617 352,857 709,474 439,084
1,459,394 - 105,603 105,603 1,353,791
12,239,172 2,133,397 4,330,336 6,463,733 5,775,440

192



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities

December 2025

Please note that an “Acronyms and Explanations” section has been added to this report and can be
found at the end of this document. This list will be augmented as new terms are discussed. Please
let us know if we can supply any additional information.

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report

Wastewater Treatment Plant: (Upgrade Project)

Equipment Repair and Replacement:
e Aeration Basin

O

O

Aeration Basin #2 is back in service
Air headers checked for leaks
Air diffusers checked for proper air release for mixing
Troubleshot an issue with the mix liquor return pump (MLR pump)
= Received and installed a load reactor, which resolved the problem
Tested the Anoxic Zone Mixer

= Equipment set to the manufacturer's recommended height and
direction above the influent pipe to prevent rags from impeding mixer
operation

Aeration Basin #2 was filled with plant water

A temporary recirculation pump was added in line at the end of Aeration
Basin #2 (AB2), into the front of Aeration Basin #1 (AB)

Influent and Return Activated Sludge (RAS) was brought into AB2. This
configuration allowed the team to “Dead Head” AB2 and test for nitrification
(removal of ammonia by conversion to nitrates) and denitrification
(breakdown of nitrates to nitrogen gas) before sending it to the clarifiers and
ponds for final processing

After a week of testing, the Wastewater Team is satisfied with the results and
has configured Clarifier#2 to complete the final processing of the
wastewater in train #2 (AB#2 and Clarifier#2)

Painting crew painted piping for Aeration Basin #1 and Aeration Basin #2.

193



&D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report (Continued)

e Aeration Basin #2 (AB #1) Drained and Cleaned
o Removed air diffusers and air headers in AB#1

¢ Influent Wet Well Instrumentation
o Installed a new transducer mount in the influent wet well.
o Pulled new transducer wiring and completed connections at the control
panel to improve level monitoring reliability.

¢ Clarifier Maintenance
o Cleaned clarifier sluice gates and Pit #1 to restore proper operation and

prevent debris-related issues.
o Replaced shoes in Clarifier No. 1 as part of routine mechanical

maintenance.
o Returned Clarifier No. 1 and RAS Pit No. 1 to service ahead of forecasted

storm events to ensure adequate treatment capacity during high influent
flows.

194



Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report (Continued)

o WWTP Generator
o Partially installed conduits for transformer to new meter panel. Inspected by
PG&E and slurried trench

o Partially ran conduits from Generator Pad to transfer switch in MCC1
electrical room (awaiting special bend sweeps to complete conduit run)

o Night time shut down of all plant power to remove distribution cables from
Distribution Panel. Required bypass for SCADA system to allow monitoring of
influent wetwell levels.

e  Pumping Equipment
o Installed a new rotating assembly at Influent Pump No. 1, restoring full
functionality and improving reliability at the headworks.

195



&D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report (Continued)

e Electrical and Process Improvements
o Demolished existing RAS/WAS electrical components in preparation for
installation of the remaining Variable Frequency Drives (VFDs), supporting
improved process control and energy efficiency.

e Blowers and Controllers
o Installed new grit blowers and controls for the grit chamber. This equipment
removes grit from influent at the beginning of the wastewater treatment
process.

196



8D
Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”) Report (Continued)

e Collections

o The generator at Lift Station B1 failed to start during monthly testing. A
temporary replacement generator was rented, installed, and brought online.
A power outage at this lift station occurred the next day.
= The existing generator was sent out for repair. This generator was
found to have corrosion on connections at the controller. These
connections were replaced. When reconnected, it was also
discovered that the generator’s main breaker had failed. We are
currently awaiting the arrival of a new breaker and have the rental
generator in service until the permanent generator is fully operational.

o Alargeroot ball was found in the sewer main on Banbury Rd. The VacCon
truck jetted the line multiple times to remove the root ball. A service order

has been placed to repair the line, and the line has been marked for
heightened observation.

¢ Fleet and Equipment Maintenance

o Performed annual vacuum combination (vac-con) truck maintenance and
installed new rear tires to ensure continued operational readiness and safety.

197



8D
Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report

Storm Impacts

o Wind from several storms impacted power distribution in the community, however, the

Utilities infrastructure was largely unaffected.

Rodeo Grounds Generator Commissioning

After several months of delays associated with emissions compliance equipment, the
new generator has been delivered and successfully installed at the Rodeo Grounds
Pump Station facility. A substantial concrete pad was constructed to elevate the
generator above the floodplain and provide long-term structural stability.

198



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report (Continued)

The generator was set in place and field-tested to verify proper operation of the
automatic transfer switch (ATS). Electrical installation and associated wiring were
completed over multiple days. To ensure uninterrupted backup power throughout this

work, a portable standby generator was connected each evening as a precautionary
measure.

Air Pollution Control Engineer from the San Luis Obispo County Air Pollution Control

District (SLO APCD) conducted an on-site inspection of the unit (photo included for
scale).

199



&D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report (Continued)

This infrastructure upgrade significantly improves the resilience of the pumping and
communications systems. Water Department staff are no longer required to return to
the site during PG&E outages to manually transfer power. Previously, this facility relied
on a manual transfer process; it now operates with fully automatic transfer capability,
improving both reliability and operational efficiency.

. The new equipment is EPA Tier 4 Final-certified, representing the most stringent
emissions standard currently in effect. It replaces Tier 0 equipment that had limited

operational availability due to high emission levels and associated maintenance
constraints.

200



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report (Continued)

Christmas Eve - Stuart Street Generator Failure

o At approximately 3:00 a.m. on Christmas Eve, on-call staff received a communications-
loss alarm at the Stuart Street tank site. Staff responded immediately and verified
operating conditions at surrounding upstream and downstream tanks and booster
stations to confirm overall system status.

J Upon arrival at the site, PG&E utility power had already been restored. A review of
generator run-time data indicated the Stuart Street generator operated for
approximately 1.3 hours, while generators at other facilities operated for approximately
1.7 hours during the outage. During the site inspection, staff identified a low coolant
level in the Stuart Street generator. After refilling the coolant reservoir, active leakage
was observed from the engine block, indicating a failed water pump. The generator was
shut down to prevent engine overheating and further damage.

L Due to forecasted storm conditions, staff contacted multiple generator service vendors
to request emergency repair support. Only one local contractor was able to respond the
same day and provided atemporary rental generator. A towable generator of equivalent
capacity was delivered, installed, and electrically connected to the site to maintain
backup power capability.

o Pump rotation and system operation were verified, and the temporary generator was
tested and placed into service. Replacement parts for the permanent generator have
been ordered, and repairs will be completed upon receipt of the necessary
components.

ALLITECH,

805.239.0300
SALES - SERVICE * RENTALS

201



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report (Continued)

Hit Hydrant Incident

L On a Saturday evening, the on-call operator was notified by the Fire Department that a
vehicle had struck a fire hydrant. Fortunately, the hydrant remained intact at the bury,
and there was no immediate loss of service.

L On the following Monday, Water Department staff excavated and inspected the
underground piping to confirm that no damage had occurred. The hydrant was
subsequently replaced with a new wet-barrel unit. During installation, staff observed
minor leakage and identified a split along the seam connecting the hydrant body
sections. The issue was promptly addressed to ensure proper operation and reliability of
the hydrant.

202



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Department Report (Continued)

Leak Repairs - Washburn State Parks Meter

L The Water Department investigated a suspected leak at the Washburn State Parks
meter. Staff determined that the leak originated on the customer side of the meter.
However, during removal of the meter lid, a PVC adapter failed, necessitating repairs on
the District side of the service.

o Water Department staff re-plumbed the connection and installed a new brass ball valve
shutoff to restore service and ensure reliable operation. State Parks has been notified of
their leak for follow-up on their side of the service.

South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District Visit

The annual permit site visit at the Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) with the Chief Plant Operator
for the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District (SSLOCSD) was successful. During the
visit, staff provided a comprehensive tour, including an overview of plant operations, the brine
storage process, and associated equipment.

The inspection also included a tour of the Wastewater Treatment Plant and the ongoing SST
upgrades, highlighting the improvements and enhancements currently being implemented.

203



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Project Status Summaries

Note: The status of current CCSD projects can also be found on the CCSD website via the following
link. https://www.cambriacsd.org/district-project-updates

Project:

Adaptive Management Plan (AMP)

Description:

The AMP is a surface water, groundwater, and biological monitoring program designed to detect
potential impacts on sensitive biological resources, requiring groundwater modeling and
monitoring while the WRF is in operation.

Current Status Update:

The 2017 AMP is available on the District website.
www.cambriacsd.org/files/f15b73f09/01_cambria-swf-amp_july-2017.pdf

AMP monitoring is ongoing. Per methods described in the AMP, quarterly surveys are conducted at
eight (8) survey sites to collect data and to describe survey conditions, habitats, stream flows,
surface water quality, 9P7 soil moisture, and observed species.

The AMP monitoring reports can be located on the CCSD website at:
www.cambriacsd.org/amp-annual-reports-amp-monitoring-reports

The final day and night protocol surveys were performed on July 26™. Biologist Kevin Merk is in the
process of assembling a 4™ Quarter Amp Report.

Project:

San Simeon Well Field (SSWF) Transmission Main Project

Description:

Developing a permanent repair of the San Simeon Water Main. This project will also include
solutions for the parallel Sewer Effluent Main.

Current Status Update:

The permitting lead time for this project scale ranges from 4 months to 1 year. The current target is
to proceed with the installation by summer or fall of 2025.

The Caltrans Encroachment Permit has been successfully granted. The District and consultants are
working with State Parks to obtain a ROE(Right of Entry) to perform potholing for utilities and soils
analysis. This process involves geotechnical analysis to locate existing utilities before obtaining
Caltrans right-of-way (RoW). The analysis, permitting, and right-of-way are needed to proceed with
the planning and design for our utilities' alignment, which is expected to require an open-cut
trenching method for installation. The process above will help finalize the 90% drawings needed to
submit for the required CDP.

204


https://www.cambriacsd.org/district-project-updates
http://www.cambriacsd.org/files/f15b73f09/01_cambria-swf-amp_july-2017.pdf
http://www.cambriacsd.org/amp-annual-reports-amp-monitoring-reports

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Project Status Summaries (Continued)

Project: Water Meter Replacement Project — AMI

Description: This project upgraded the CCSD metering system to an Advanced Metering
Infrastructure (AMI) with new meters that can provide real-time water analytics.

Current Status Update:

Operational and Admin staff have taken part in training on Beacon’s “Eye On Water” portal. Staff are

also working on a final audit to ensure the data from all the water meters and their endpoints are
being transmitted correctly. Any remaining issues with meter data and/or account records are being
reviewed and resolved.

Project: Pilot project for Zero Liquid Discharge for Brine in WRF

Description: Pilot study project to test innovative technology for brine reduction with the goal of
zero liquid discharge

Current Status Update:

ZLD testing has completed. We looking forward to receiving data regarding the test process and
operational cost estimates.

Project: Stuart Street Tank Project

Description: Critical water infrastructure project to rebuild the Stuart Street tanks, which have
reached their useful operational life

Current Status Update:

All foundation and tank assembly work for the first tank was completed. The first tank has been
covered to keep out the elements while preparation for the coating phase is underway. Currently,
the construction crews are running dehumidifiers within the tank in order to make sure that all
surfaces are ready to accept the coating treatments. The CCSD appreciates the patience and
cooperation of the community during this major capital improvement project.

Please check the website for the weekly project updates: https://www.cambriacsd.org/stuart-
street-tank-construction-project-updates

205


https://www.cambriacsd.org/stuart-street-tank-construction-project-updates
https://www.cambriacsd.org/stuart-street-tank-construction-project-updates

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REPORTING
State of California regulatory reporting requirements for Water and Wastewater

Water Department (Monthly/Quarterly Reporting)

SAFER Drought & Conservation Data Collection (Monthly and Quarterly)

Title 22 monthly, quarterly, and annual monitoring report to the State Water Resources
Control Board

Disinfection By-Products Analysis (Quarterly)

DDW: Surface Water Treatment Regulation (SWTR)

San Simeon Wells 1-3 Testing/Reporting

Ground Water Regulation (GWR) for San Simeon Wells 1-3 (Monthly)
Total Coliform Regulation reporting (Monthly)

Bacteriological distribution system reporting (Monthly)

Disinfection Bi-Products (DBP) reporting (Quarterly)

Additional Water Department Reporting (Annually/Semi-Annual)

Haz Mat Business Plan

Discharge Monitoring Report

Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) submittal to DDW and released to the public
Annual Volumetric Discharge Report

Annual Water Shortage Assessment (start April/due July 1)

CCR final data (Posting by July 1 - Annual)

Annual Stormwater Report (Posting by July 15)

California Lead and Copper Rule inventory and report (Completed October 2024)

Advanced Clean Fleets Report

Wastewater Department Reporting

Monthly/Quarterly

CIWQS Spill Report Requirement

RWQCB Report

206



8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REPORTING (Continued)

Annually/Semi-Annually

Volumetric Annual Report
CERS - California Environmental Reporting System

o https://cers.calepa.ca.gov/

APCD Generator Report — SLO County Air Pollution Control District

o https://www.slocleanair.org/

Biosolids Report
CIWQS (Apr) - California Integrated Water Quality System Project

o https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/ciwqgs/

RWQCB Report (semi-annual May/Nov; annual Jan)
o Regional Water Quality Control Board

o https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/

SMARTS Stormwater (Jul/Dec)
o California Water Boards

o https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/

CUPA HazMat Plan Update - (Certified Unified Program Agency)
= San Luis Obispo Department of Environmental Health Services

= https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-
health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-

and-waste)

207


https://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
https://www.slocleanair.org/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/ciwqs/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/
https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Water Resources, Conservation, & Permits Report

Water Supply Status Summary

As of December 31st, 2025:

Source Acre-feet Annual Percentage of Dry-Season | Percentage of Dry-
(YTD) Allocation | Allocation Diverted Allocation | Season Allocation
(YTD) Diverted
San Simeon 366.4 799 46% 370 34%
Santa Rosa 147.6 218 68% 155.3 91%

Additional well-level data and production summary reports are available on the website at
www.cambriacsd.org/water-data

Santa Rosa Basin Allocation

As of December 31, 2025, we have diverted 147.6 acre-feet, or 68%, of our 218 acre-feet per year
(AFY) allocation. For 2025, we diverted 91% of our dry season diversion of 155.3 acre-feet.

San Simeon Basin

As of December 31st, 2025, we have diverted 366.4 acre-feet, or 46%, of our 799 AFY allocation.
The dry season in the San Simeon Basin began with the cessation of flow at Palmer Flats on July
15th and ended when creek flow resumed on November 17, 2025. The dry season lasted a total of
125 days, during which we diverted roughly 34% or 125 acre-feet of our dry season diversion of 370
acre-feet.

Water Supply & Demand

Please see the Potable Water Shortage Assessment table for details on anticipated water demand,
actual demand, water supply adjustment, total water supply for December, expected effects of the
Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) response actions, and the anticipated surplus for the July
2025-June 2026 water shortage reporting timeframe.

The total amount diverted for calendar year 2025 (gross diversion) is 519.46 AF. The total net
diversion (riparian deliveries subtracted out) for 2025 is 514.03 AF. This represents an increase of

9.45 AF for gross diversion over 2024 and an increase of 5.25 AF in net diversion over 2024.

For additional information, see the charts, graphs, and diversion sheets at the end of this report.

208


http://www.cambriacsd.org/water-data

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Permit Counter Monthly Summary (YTD Counts Audited 12/31/2025)

ASSIGNMENT OF POSITION APPLICATIONS - 42 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 20)

RETROFIT APPLICATIONS - 35 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 33)
023.067.004 - 798 Drake - Resale
023.202.072 - 2878 Ramsey - Resale

TRANSFER OF POSITION/EDU APPLICATIONS - 4 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 3)

VOLUNTARY LOT MERGER APPLICATIONS (Final) - 6 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 8)

VOLUNTARY LOT MERGER APPLICATIONS (ELIGIBILITY) - 15 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 16)
022.343.009/022.343.010 — Rejected due to size

VACATION RENTAL CONDITIONAL APPROVAL APPLICATIONS - 15 YTD (Total for 2024 was 22)
023.202.072 - 2878 Ramsey

VACATION RENTAL FINAL APPROVAL —4 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 7)

WATER SERVICE INSTALLATION OR UPGRADE APPLICATIONS - 6 YTD (Total for 2024 was 4)

INTENT-TO-SERVES ISSUED -0 YTD

WAITLIST WITHDRAWALS -2 YTD

WILL SERVES ISSUED (INCLUDING FIRE PLAN / SPRINKLER REVIEWS) - 40 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 WAS 59)
013.241.024 - 2515 MAIN — REPLACEMENT OF AMBULANCE STATION CCHD

023.425.020-2825 BURTON — OUTDOOR ENTERTAINMENT AREA

022.333.016-498 HUNTINGTON - GENERATOR INSTALLATION

WATER USE EFFICIENCY WALK-THROUGHS COMPLETED - 0 YTD (TOTAL FOR 2024 wAs 0)

209



Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Acronyms and Explanations

AMI: Advanced Metering Infrastructure
AMP: Adaptive Management Plan (Emergency Water Supply Project)

APCD: Air Pollution Control District (San Luis Obispo County)
e https://www.slocleanair.org/

AQMD: "South Coast" Air Quality Management District
(As opposed to the Bay Area AQMD, aka BAAQMD)

AMSL: Above Mean Sea Level

AWE: Alliance for Water Efficiency - https://allianceforwaterefficiency.org/

CalWEP: California Water Efficiency Partnership - https://calwep.org/

CCR: Consumer Confidence Report
CDP: Coastal Development Permit

CEQA: California Environmental Quality Act
e https://ceqaportal.org/

Corporation Stop(Corp Stop)
o Angled connection to water main with shutoff

CUPA: Certified Unified Program Agency
e San Luis Obispo Department of Environmental Health Services
e https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-

8D

health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)

DDW: Division of Drinking Water
e Drinking Water Program (State Water Resources Control Board)
e https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/programs/

DO: Dissolved Oxygen

ECM: Energy Conservation Module
e Technology that helps save energy by making smart adjustments to a system or device.

210


https://www.slocleanair.org/
https://allianceforwaterefficiency.org/
https://calwep.org/
https://ceqaportal.org/
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.slocounty.ca.gov/departments/health-agency/public-health/environmental-health-services/cupa-program-(hazardous-materials-and-waste)
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Acronyms and Explanations (Continued)

EDU: Equivalent Dwelling Unit (Water Allocation Unit)
e https://www.cambriacsd.org/will-serves-and-retrofits

EIR: Environmental Impact Report (See CEQA and MND's)

ESRI: Environmental Systems Research Institute (Digital Mapping Company)

GIS: Geographic Information System

GSA: Groundwater Sustainability Agency

LAFCO (CALAFCO): Local Agency Formation Commission - https://calafco.org/

LAM: Landscape Area Management - https://calwep.org/calwep-lam-explorer/

LCP: Local Coastal Program
e (Coastal planning documents that allow California’s 76 coastal zone cities and counties to
implement the Coastal Act at the local level.
e https://www.coastal.ca.gov/lcp/lcp-info/

Lift Station:
e A pump that moves wastewater from a lower elevation to a higher elevation, so that it can
reach a wastewater treatment plant. They are installed in low-lying areas or places with
deep pipes.

NCAC: North Coast Advisory Council
e https://www.ncacslo.org/

NOE: Notice of Exemption

NOFO: Notice of Funding Opportunity

NPDES: National Pollutants Discharge Elimination System
e Permitrequirements for discharge to water

MCC: Motor Control Center

MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level

211


https://www.cambriacsd.org/will-serves-and-retrofits
https://calafco.org/
https://calwep.org/calwep-lam-explorer/
https://www.coastal.ca.gov/lcp/lcp-info/
https://www.ncacslo.org/

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Acronyms and Explanations (Continued)

MLE (Modified Ludzack-Ettinger process)
e Atype of biological nutrient removal(BNR) system that removes nitrogen from wastewater.

MND: Mitigated Negative Declaration (Re: CEQA and EIR's)
e A mitigated negative declaration (MND) is a document that states that a project will not
have a significant environmental impact.

MOU: Memorandum of Understanding: Non-binding agreement between two or more parties that
outlines their intentions and roles

ORP: Oxidation-Reduction Potential
o An ORP Sensorindicates a liquid's capacity to oxidize or reduce another substance.

PETS: Pump Efficiency Test Services
Potholing: Creating holes to locate and map the path of underground pipes or conduit
RAS: Return-Activated Sludge
e Settled activated sludge that is collected in the secondary clarifier and returned to the

aeration basin to mix with incoming raw wastewater.

RCAC: Rural Community Assistance Corporation
e https://www.rcac.org/

RIOP: Remote Input Output Panel

SCADA: Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (Method of machine control)
e https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SCADA

SGMA: Sustainable Groundwater Management Act
e https://water.ca.gov/programs/groundwater-management/sgma-groundwater-management

SSMP: Sewer System Management Plan

SSWEF: San Simeon Water Facility

SWCA - Steven W Carothers Associates (Environmental Consulting Firm)
e https://www.swca.com/

SWSAC: State Water Subcontractor Advisory Committee

212


https://www.rcac.org/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SCADA
https://water.ca.gov/programs/groundwater-management/sgma-groundwater-management
https://www.swca.com/

8D

Utilities Report for Department Activities
December 2025

Acronyms and Explanations (Continued)

TDS: Total Dissolved Solids

TMDL: Total Maximum Daily Load
e ATMDL s the calculation of the maximum amount of a pollutant allowed to enter a
waterbody

UWMP: Urban Water Management Plan (CA Dept of Water Resources)

VFD: Variable Frequency Drive
e Atype of motor controller that regulates the speed and torque of an electric motor by
changing the frequency and voltage of the power supply.

WAS: Waste Activated Sludge
e Excess biomass removed from the system and sent for further treatment or disposal

WDR: Waste Discharge Requirements
e Permitrequirements for discharge to land

WRF: Water Reclamation Facility

WSCP: Water Shortage Contingency Plan

ZLD: Zero Liquid Discharge
e https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zero_liquid_discharge

213


https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zero_liquid_discharge

Well Read Date

Distance to Water

Reference Point

Well Name Well Description/Location Level (ft) Elevation AMSL (ft) Depth AMSL (ft) Comments
23R High School 30.73 83.42 52.69
SR4* CCCD Production 27.99 82.00 54.01
SR3 CCSD Production 19.10 54.30 35.20
SR1 CCSD 17.48 46.40 28.92
21R3 County Parks 8.10 12.88 4.78 Meter Read (CF): 49961
WBE Windsor Bridge East 11.90 16.87 4.97
WBW Windsor Bridge West 12.20 17.02 4.82
SR4 54.01
AVG SR1 & SR3 32.06
Well Name Well Description/Location DlstaLnec;e::c()fr)V ater EII: 3;‘1:::(:M?|:n(tﬂ) Depth AMSL (ft) Comments
16D1 Van Gordon Creek Bridge 7.37 11.36 3.99
MW4 Monitoring at Lagoon Entrance 11.67 15.95 4.28
9P2 Gradient Monitoring 11.13 19.11 7.98
9L1 Abandoned Irrigation 17.60 27.33 9.73
SS4 CCCD 15.47 25.92 10.45
SS3* CCSD Production 17.64 33.73 16.09
Unable to read SS2. Depth
" . AMSL calculated as an average
ss2 CCSD Production 16.51 33.16 16.54 1S3 8 9T 1684 ang
anproximation.
SS1* CCSD Production 15.38 32.37 16.99
11C1 Pedotti 17.22 98.20 80.98
10M2 Pedotti 23.43 55.21 31.78 Oil
Lagoon Creek Pedestrian Bridge 19.98 Mitigation Erosion: None
AVG S1,SS2 & SS3 16.54
S$S4/9P2 Gradient 2.47

*Above Mean Sea Level (AMSL)
*CCSD's Production Wells
Reference point on 16D1, MIW1, MIW2, MIW3, 9P7, RIW, MIW1, SS1, SS2 and SS3 updated on 2/17/2015

214



Elevation above Sea Level (Feet)

28.00

26.00

24.00

22.00

20.00

18.00

16.00

14.00

12.00

10.00

8.00

6.00

4.00

2.00

0.00

San Simeon Creek Well Levels
Mid-March 2025 Levels to Date and
1988 to Current, Min, Max, & Average

(14e35) ST ¥VIN

T ddv

ST ¥dv

T AVIN

ST AVIA

Ll

ST ANNT

TAINf

Minimum

ST AINS

TNV

S1ONV
T 1d3S

Maximum

ST 1d3S
17120
ST 100

== == Average

T AON

ST AON

2025

T23a

ST 23d

T NVI

ST NVT

1434
AR:EE!
T YVIN

(pud) ST ¥VIN

215



San Simeon Creek Well Levels

Last 10 years
March 2015 - Current

28.00

26.00

24.00

22.00

20.00
18.00
16.00
14.00
12.00
10.00

8.00

(1994) |ana1 eas anoqe uoneas|y

6.00

4.00

2.00

0.00

216

MAR 15 (end)

MAR 1

FEB 14

FEB1

JAN 15

JAN 1

DEC 15

2025

DEC1

2024

NOV 15

NOV 1

2023

OCT 15

oCT1

2022

SEPT 15

SEPT 1

2021

AUG 15

2020

AUG 1

JULY 15

2019

JULY 1

JUNE 15

2018

JUNE 1

MAY 15

2017

MAY 1

2016

APR 15

APR1

MAR 15 (start)



Elevation above Sea Level (Feet)

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

San Simeon Creek Well Levels
1988 - Current

(1eas) ST YVIN

T 4dv

ST ¥dV

T AVIA

ST AVIN

TaNnr

ST aNnNr

T AINI

ST AINC

79NV

ST 5NV

T 1d3S

ST 1d3S

T 120

ST 100

T AON

ST AON

T23a

S103d

T NVr

ST NVT

74934

Y1934

T YVIN

(Pu?) ST ¥VIN

1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
e—— 7010
— 2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
—2024
2025

217



1988 to Current Statistical San Simeon Well Level Summary by Month

showing Minimums, Maximums, 25 % Percentile, 75% Percentile
Average Level is the line between the Blue (hatched) and Green (solid) bars

2025

75th Percentile

25th Percentile

Average

Minimum

28

H

:

26

<
o

~N
o~

fi

o
o~

o] () < o~ o o0
— — i — -

(199}) |]ana1 eas anoqy uonend|3

O

<

o

o

STHVIN

T HVIN

ST 934

14934

ST NVI

T NVT

ST03d

123d

ST AON

T AON

ST 100

1120

ST 1d3S

T 1d3S

ST ONY

15nv

sTanf

Tnr

STNNF

TNNr

STAVA

TAVIA

ST ¥dv

T 4dv

ST 4VIN

218



ELEVATION ABOVE SEA LEVEL

SANTA ROSA CREEK WELL LEVELS
March 2025 - Current

==—==23R  ====SR3  ==—=SR1 = WBE ¢ SR4 @ Indicates CCSD Production wells

65.00

60.00

55.00

50.00

45.00

40.00

35.00

30.00

25.00

20.00

15.00

10.00

5.00

0.00
Y, %y % % % Y . s s O On Yo, Yo, O O Ay Ay Ko R Y W
“, ¢ ¢ pa 0 C C O, 0. & (% " . g 2

¥ »{94/@] 4/6] +, }'{? G, GJ$ ¢ g ”, /\\’s v, b\{? <, 0J$ ¢ VoS B

‘g
Zs s KOTR N

219



= Projected

= Actual
Potable Water Shortage Assessment’ Start Year: 2025 Volumetric Unit Used: AF
Jul Aug | Sep | Oct | Nov | Dec | Jan Feb | Mar | Apr | May | Jun Total
Anticipated Unconstrained Demand 51.74 | 48.97 | 45.90 | 46.30 | 42.77 | 41.06 | 37.10 | 34.60 | 37.79 | 40.80 | 43.01 | 45.70 | 515.77
Actual Demand 51.68 | 51.90 | 45.01 | 43.76 | 40.33 | 40.83 | 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 273.51
Supply Adjustment 0.0 2.3 5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3
Anticipated Total Water Supply | 50.70 | 48.20 | 43.50 | 44.10 | 39.20 | 36.80 | 37.40 | 36.10 | 40.90 | 40.70 | 44.80 [ 45.90 | 508.30
Accrued Surplus/Shortage from Previous Month 0.0 -1.0 -3.7 -1.5 0.3 1.2 -4.7
Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action -1.0 -1.8 -6.1 -3.7 -3.2 -3.1 0.3 1.5 3.1 -0.1 1.8 0.2 -12.1
Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action -2% -4% -13% -8% -8% -8% 1% 4% 8% 0% 4% 0% 2%
State Standard Shortage Level 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Planned WSCP Actions
Anticipated Benefit from WSCP: Supply Augmentation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Anticipated Benefit from WSCP: Demand Reduction 52 5.2 4.8 4.8 4.4 4.4 3.9 2.0 1.9 1.9 4.9 4.9 48.3
Actual Benefit from WSCP Action 0.1 -2.9 0.9 2.5 2.4 0.2 3.23
Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action 4.2 3.4 -1.3 1.1 1.2 1.3 4.2 3.5 5.0 1.8 6.7 5.1 36.2
Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action 8% 7% -3% 2% 3% 3% 11% | 10% | 13% 4% 16% 11% 7%
Actual Surplus/Shortage -0.98 | -3.70 | -1.51 | 034 | 1.17 | 0.97 -3.71
Actual % Surplus/Shortage | -1.9% | -7.1% | -3.4% | 0.8% | 2.9% | 2.4% -1.4%
State Standard Shortage Level Achieved 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Asse e are based on best available data a eo o) e report and e a be different due to a

Definitions for Terms Used in This Table
Anticipated Unconstrained Demand: Projection based on the average water production over the reporting years 2019, 2021, 2023, and 2023.

Actual Demand: The total amount of potable water produced for the month.

Supply Adjustment: Observed aquifer recharge/depletion from seasonal precipitation/lack thereof.

Anticipated Total Water Supply: The target amount to be produced assuming dry years conditions.

Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP: The volumetric difference in the anticipated unconstrained demand and anticipated total water supply without any shortage response actions.

Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/o WSCP Action: The difference in the anticipated unconstrained demand and anticipated total water supply without any shortage response actions expressed as a percentage.
State Standard Shortage Level: The corresponding shortage level per California Water Code Section 10632(a)(3)(A).

Anticipated Benefit from WSCP - Supply Augmentation: Projected volume of water added to the supply, such as from the operation of the Water Reclamation Facility.

Anticipated Benefit from WSCP - Demand Reduction: Projected volume of water conserved through shortage response actions.
Actual Benefit from WSCP Action: Actual supply augmentation or demand reduction achieved.

Revised Anticipated Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action: Volumetric difference between the anticipated surplus/shortage w/o WSCP action and the actual benefits obtained.
Revised Anticipated % Surplus/Shortage w/WSCP Action: Difference between the anticipated surplus/shortage w/o WSCP action and the actual benefits obtained expressed as a percentage.

Actual Surplus/Shortage: Volumetric difference between the anticipated total water supply (including any adjustments) and the actual total demand.

Actual % Surplus/Shortage: Difference between the anticipated total water supply (including any adjustments) and the actual total demand expressed as a percentage.

WSCP: Water Shortage Contingency Plan

220



2025 CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT DECEMBER DIVERSION
Rlodichel WELLS (galx1000) *Raw totals
Wells
ALL WELLS Daily
DAY OF ss#1 ss#2 ss#3 R4 SR1 SR3* TOTAL Pumpage | Monthto
MONTH Date (AF)
(galx1000) (AF)
1 0.00 207.00 179.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 386.00 1.18 1
2 0.00 194.00 316.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 510.00 1.57 3
3 0.00 117.00 104.00 105.00 0.00 0.00 326.00 1.00 4
4 0.00 225.00 209.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 434.00 1.33 5
5 0.00 215.00 201.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 416.00 1.28 6
6 0.00 259.00 239.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 498.00 1.53 8
7 0.00 185.00 193.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 378.00 1.16 9
8 0.00 252.00 255.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 507.00 1.56 11
9 0.00 183.00 172.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 355.00 1.09 12
10 0.00 185.00 172.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 357.00 1.10 13
11 0.00 213.00 200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 413.00 1.27 14
12 0.00 262.00 244.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 506.00 1.55 16
13 0.00 176.00 163.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 339.00 1.04 17
14 0.00 234.00 219.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 453.00 1.39 18
15 0.00 245.00 230.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 475.00 1.46 19
16 0.00 191.00 196.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 387.00 1.19 21
17 0.00 203.00 190.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 393.00 1.21 22
18 0.00 224.00 209.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 433.00 1.33 23
19 0.00 240.00 225.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 465.00 1.43 25
20 0.00 106.00 106.00 0.00 0.00 125.00 337.00 1.03 26
21 0.00 243.00 220.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 463.00 1.42 27
22 0.00 231.00 216.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 447.00 1.37 28
23 0.00 193.00 171.00 0.00 0.00 123.00 487.00 1.49 30
24 0.00 161.00 158.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 319.00 0.98 31
25 0.00 229.00 213.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 442.00 1.36 32
26 0.00 193.00 182.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 375.00 1.15 33
27 0.00 234.00 234.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 468.00 1.44 35
28 0.00 228.00 247.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 475.00 1.46 36
29 0.00 36.00 538.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 574.00 1.76 38
30 0.00 359.00 76.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 435.00 1.33 39
31 0.00 219.00 232.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 451.00 1.38 41
TOTALS 0.00 6442.00 6509.00 105.00 0.00 248.00 13304.00 40.83 |
Daily AVG 0.00 207.81 209.97 3.39 0.00 8.00 429.16 1.32 |
AF 0.00 19.77 19.98 0.32 0.00 0.76 40.83
Peak 574.00 |
Meter Correction Factors from Calibration done
100% 100% 100%
Corrected 0.00 6442.00 6509.00 105.00 0.00 248.00 13304.00 40.83 | (ACRE-FEET)
GROSS NET NET YTD NET
DIVERSION DIVERSION PRODUCTION [ PRODUCTION
(AF) (AF) (AF) (AF)
San Simeon Total 39.75 39.51 39.75 371.86
Santa Rosa Total 1.08 1.08 1.08 147.59
SS & SR TOTAL 40.83 40.59 40.83 519.45
Advanced Water Treatment Plant 0.00

Diversion: Total volume diverted from creek underflow storage (gross); Total volume diverted under the CCSD's licenses (net)
Production:  Total volume delivered to consumers for consumption

Mitigation Both Creeks
(galx1000)

AWTP

Santa Rosa

(galx1000) [ 000 [ 000 | (gak1000) [ 000 [ o0 |
(AcRe-feeT)[ 000 | 000 [(acre-feem[ o000 | 000 |

BACKWASH TOTAL
R:
SR3 SR4 (gal)
(galx1,000)
19725 7662535
19725.00

ANALYZER METER
DATE READ
12/1/2025 | 44.00
12/31/2025 57.00
Total Recirc 13.00
(ccf)
T -
otal Recirc 0.03
(AF)

221



YEAR

SOURCE

DIFFERENCE

(Current YR - Previous YR)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

2020

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

JAN

3.28

39.52
1.11
40.63
0.00

35.76
1.60

37.35
0.00

34.97
0.40
35.37
0.00

13.45

23.95

37.40
0.00

32.69
9.00

41.69
0.00

34.92
4.10

39.02
0.00

FEB

2.50

34.09
0.06
34.14
0.00

29.95
1.69
31.64
0.00

33.20
0.48
33.68
0.00

36.12
0.04
36.17
0.00

27.70
10.22

37.92
0.00

34.19
5.37
39.56
0.00

MAR

-0.29

36.46
0.94
37.39
0.00

36.77
0.92
37.69
0.00

30.28
4.22
34.51
0.00

40.92
0.03
40.95
0.00

35.18
8.91
44.09
0.00

30.76
6.32
37.08
0.00

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

APR

1.99

38.55
0.56
39.11
0.00

36.47
0.65
37.12
0.00

37.48
0.95
38.43
0.00

40.72
0.04
40.76
0.00

37.82
9.05
46.88
0.00

26.75
8.97
35.72
0.00

GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

MAY

3.86

18.68

26.47

45.14
0.00

37.42
3.87
41.28
0.00

35.48
5.22
40.69
0.00

44.71
0.05
44.77
0.00

37.47
12.02

49.49
0.00

36.33
7.21
43.53
0.00

JUN

1.36

17.34

31.44

48.78
0.00

12.63

34.80

47.43
0.00

32.25
12.21

44.46
0.00

34.66
11.17

45.83
0.00

35.88
14.41

50.30
0.00

41.46
7.77
49.23
0.00

JUL

-0.88

23.40

29.03

52.43
0.00

35.67
17.64

53.31
0.00

36.04
15.91

51.95
0.00

27.37

23.27

50.64
0.00

32.10

20.65

52.75
0.00

33.73
19.10

52.82
0.00

AUG

1.66

20.94

30.97

51.90
0.00

22.43

27.82

50.24
0.00

30.81
18.09

48.90
0.00

20.62

27.59

48.20
0.00

32.03
16.40

48.43
0.00

36.26
17.85

54.11
0.00

SEP

-1.00

28.03
16.98

45.01
0.00

8.72
37.29
46.01

0.00

30.09
16.06

46.15
0.00

14.65

28.77

43.42
0.00

33.33
11.30

44.63
0.00

35.55
14.22

49.77
0.00

oCT

-3.03

37.67
6.09
43.76
0.00

20.33

26.46

46.79
0.00

15.83

31.66

47.49
0.00

18.76

25.30

44.06
0.00

28.52
14.52

43.04
0.00

40.33
10.67

50.99
0.00

NOV

-0.43

37.46
2.87
40.33
0.00

40.65
0.10
40.76
0.00

41.18
2.73
43.91
0.00

31.81
7.44
39.25
0.00

28.19
11.69

39.88
0.00

32.24
12.61

44.85
0.00

DEC

-0.26

39.75
1.08
40.83
0.00

40.26
0.83
41.09
0.00

43.03
0.89
43.92
0.00

36.54
0.32
36.86
0.00

21.65
16.81

38.46
0.00

14.99

27.85

42.84
0.00

ANNUAL
TOTAL

9.45

371.87

147.59

519.46
0.00

357.05

153.66

510.71
0.00

400.63

108.81

509.44
0.00

360.33

147.97

508.31
0.00

382.56

155.00

537.55
0.00

397.50

142.04

539.53
0.00

YEAR

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

2020

222



YEAR

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2013 2014

SOURCE

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL
AWTP

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

JAN

34.66
3.21
37.87
0.00

14.87

29.65

44.51
0.00

31.92
6.88
38.80
0.00

16.43
17.87

34.30
0.00

19.95
14.77

34.72
5.55

22.93
34.69
57.62

50.55
0.00
50.55

FEB

23.65
9.60
33.26
0.00

15.89

23.27

39.15
0.00

18.84
14.33

33.18
0.00

9.51
27.34
36.86

0.00

16.65
14.90
31.55
14.34

16.97
19.85
36.82

47.40
0.00
47.40

MAR

24.82
13.68

38.50
0.00

25.03
12.99

38.02
0.00

40.96
5.95
46.91
0.00

19.84
16.71

36.55
0.00

17.16
20.53
37.69
12.49

24.90
10.00
34.90

54.72
0.00
54.72

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

APR

33.87
8.37
42.24
0.00

32.22
6.85
39.06
0.00

45.42
9.76
55.18
0.00

21.88
15.60

37.47
0.00

17.79

20.68

38.47
7.61

25.03
10.44
35.47

55.27
4.27
59.54

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

MAY

35.59
7.64
43.22
0.00

38.72
5.02
43.74
0.00

46.33
17.86

64.19
0.00

24.30
15.74

40.04
0.00

16.18

20.99

37.17
0.00

19.39
18.88
38.27

63.18
5.28
68.45

JUN

36.34
9.99
46.33
0.00

39.21
7.89
47.11
0.00

34.69

28.23

62.92
0.00

30.90
13.87

44.76
0.00

14.14

26.51

40.65
0.00

14.40
24.19
38.59

46.01
27.57
73.58

JUL

42.77
10.62

53.40
0.00

32.75

21.99

54.74
0.00

24.65

32.52

57.17
0.00

30.40

20.45

50.85
0.00

15.14

29.51

44.65
0.00

11.94
30.89
42.82

60.82
18.12
78.94

AUG

40.85
10.29

51.14
0.00

22.81

30.76

53.57
0.00

18.90

32.01

50.90
0.00

29.68
18.12

47.80
0.00

17.39

27.78

45.17
0.00

0.00
43.09
43.09

72.32
3.50
75.82

SEP

37.31
11.73

49.03
0.00

18.90

27.53

46.43
0.00

25.89
16.80

42.69
0.00

29.02
16.65

45.67
0.00

20.36

21.94

42.30
3.68

0.76
36.26
37.01

57.73
7.62
65.35

oCT

38.48
11.24

49.72
0.00

13.56

31.65

45.21
0.00

28.39
12.13

40.53
0.00

8.07
34.27
42.34
10.33

26.17
16.05

42.22
8.07

24.32
12.06
36.37

29.84
22.56
52.40

NOV

34.69
10.97

45.67
0.00

13.17

30.46

43.62
0.00

19.19
19.96

39.15
0.00

5.82
31.97
37.79

7.04

23.74
13.57

37.31
6.29

13.74
18.63
32.36

26.72
25.38
52.11

26.43
13.57

40.01
0.00

30.69
10.06

40.75
0.00

23.18

20.92

44.11
0.00

21.55
18.30

39.85
5.70

21.23
13.90
35.13
10.89

23.81
9.62
33.44

28.61
25.61
54.22

ANNUAL
TOTAL

409.46

120.91

530.38
0.00

297.82

238.09

535.91
0.00

358.36

217.36

575.72
0.00

247.39

246.89

494.28
23.07

225.89

241.13

467.02
68.92

198.17
268.59
466.76

593.16
139.91
733.07

YEAR

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2013 2014

223



YEAR

2012

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

2005

SOURCE

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

JAN

50.12
3.54
53.66

48.05
0.00
48.05

45.44
0.00
45.44

28.17
24.83
53.00

43.35
2.33
45.68

57.70
0.00
57.70

50.81
0.00
50.81

50.05
0.00
50.05

FEB

48.09
0.79
48.88

43.36
0.70
44.06

40.48
0.00
40.48

37.57
3.81
41.38

45.35
0.67
46.02

47.45
0.00
47.45

49.10
0.78
49.88

46.16
0.62
46.78

MAR

52.60
0.00
52.60

45.17
0.00
45.17

47.48
0.77
48.25

50.95
0.00
50.95

51.55
0.71
52.26

56.47
0.60
57.07

48.82
0.00
48.82

51.09
0.93
52.02

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

APR

50.52
0.66
51.18

52.11
0.76
52.87

48.39
0.62
49.01

58.52
0.00
58.52

52.59
2.20
54.79

60.50
1.81
62.31

49.65
0.62
50.27

55.01
0.76
55.77

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

MAY

60.06
1.44
61.50

53.94
6.65
60.59

56.26
0.68
56.94

48.56
13.53
62.09

40.45
24.69
65.14

56.11
14.47
70.58

60.58
0.74
61.32

65.70
0.76
66.46

JUN

56.53
11.14
67.67

49.27
11.03
60.30

55.29
8.74
64.03

37.47
26.06
63.53

33.03
33.55
66.58

51.21
22.24
73.45

65.65
2.56
68.21

68.81
0.73
69.54

JUL

48.17
27.95
76.12

60.52
12.97
73.49

50.73
21.96
72.69

48.80
25.21
74.01

40.15
32.94
73.09

55.95
23.47
79.42

56.12
23.58
79.70

80.52
1.64
82.16

AUG

41.12
33.22
74.34

55.52
14.82
70.34

44.58
27.30
71.88

40.69
34.10
74.79

47.57
24.87
72.44

63.48
12.37
75.85

59.67
20.72
80.39

61.60
17.32
78.92

SEP

36.72
29.98
66.70

45.40
19.45
64.85

35.05
32.52
67.57

31.99
32.64
64.63

47.24
18.26
65.50

58.72
5.29
64.01

52.49
20.17
72.66

48.71
20.25
68.96

oCT

42.22
21.43
63.65

45.67
14.15
59.82

37.61
21.71
59.32

44.62
11.02
55.64

41.53
21.03
62.56

37.58
18.70
56.28

42.86
23.88
66.74

47.08
21.69
68.77

NOV

48.70
8.86
57.56

46.28
5.19
51.47

36.14
14.48
50.62

53.05
0.00
53.05

21.47
32.21
53.68

34.83
21.20
56.03

34.46
26.46
60.92

40.83
16.92
57.75

50.88
0.00
50.88

51.87
0.00
51.87

36.45
9.73
46.18

46.55
1.34
47.89

25.41
24.46
49.87

38.61
9.42
48.03

42.75
13.63
56.38

36.70
7.36
44.06

ANNUAL
TOTAL

585.73
139.01
724.74

597.16
85.72
682.88

533.90
138.51
672.41

526.94
172.54
699.48

489.69
217.92
707.61

618.61
129.57
748.18

612.96
133.14
746.10

652.26
88.98
741.24

YEAR

2012

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

2005

224



YEAR

2002 2003 2004

1999 2000 2001

1998

1997

SOURCE

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

JAN

55.83
0.00
55.83

52.73
0.70
53.43

54.43
1.28
55.71

56.16
0.00
56.16

56.41
0.00
56.41

56.40
0.01
56.41

44.39
0.01
44.40

50.61
0.02
50.63

FEB

51.40
0.61
52.01

49.97
1.11
51.08

52.23
1.27
53.50

48.05
0.00
48.05

50.43
0.00
50.43

45.26
0.01
45.27

46.36
0.01
46.37

49.20
0.08
49.28

MAR

58.56
1.17
59.73

57.35
0.48
57.83

60.70
1.10
61.80

55.92
0.00
55.92

55.27
0.00
55.27

52.16
0.01
52.17

47.00
0.01
47.01

65.66
0.02
65.68

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

APR

64.33
4.84
69.17

58.32
0.94
59.26

65.43
1.11
66.54

60.69
0.00
60.69

65.40
0.00
65.40

57.40
0.04
57.44

50.53
0.01
50.54

68.65
0.02
68.67

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

MAY

67.98
8.68
76.66

62.82
1.84
64.66

60.75
14.82
75.57

73.30
0.00
73.30

70.84
0.00
70.84

70.43
0.02
70.45

56.43
0.00
56.43

76.18
0.02
76.20

JUN

52.62
22.08
74.70

68.22
5.63
73.85

55.13
22.79
77.92

77.51
0.00
77.51

73.60
0.00
73.60

71.35
0.07
71.42

63.43
0.01
63.44

79.14
0.02
79.16

JUL

47.04
30.80
77.84

65.05
19.77
84.82

66.79
19.54
86.33

85.01
0.00
85.01

85.00
0.00
85.00

85.41
0.01
85.42

77.75
0.01
77.76

82.31
0.38
82.69

AUG

39.68
36.30
75.98

63.34
22.04
85.38

73.35
9.67
83.02

78.50
5.78
84.28

84.68
0.00
84.68

82.68
0.02
82.70

80.30
0.09
80.39

57.02
25.92
82.94

SEP

41.06
27.32
68.38

58.91
16.00
74.91

66.59
3.52
70.11

53.45
21.08
74.53

73.30
0.00
73.30

69.45
0.32
69.77

68.35
0.01
68.36

37.32
31.54
68.86

oCT

34.80
24.95
59.75

67.08
6.58
73.66

62.03
4.02
66.05

56.21
16.87
73.08

65.60
0.00
65.60

68.04
0.02
68.06

66.58
0.00
66.58

27.50
36.85
64.35

NOV

49.30
1.73
51.03

56.20
3.12
59.32

56.36
2.04
58.40

48.16
8.06
56.22

58.49
0.00
58.49

57.78
0.00
57.78

54.06
0.00
54.06

38.96
12.41
51.37

49.92
1.63
51.55

48.84
5.84
54.68

53.98
0.55
54.53

52.29
0.89
53.18

59.80
0.00
59.80

57.69
0.00
57.69

52.13
0.00
52.13

45.96
0.01
45.97

ANNUAL
TOTAL

612.52
160.11
772.63

708.83
84.05
792.88

727.77
81.71
809.48

745.25
52.68
797.93

798.82
0.00
798.82

774.05
0.53
774.58

707.31
0.16
707.47

678.51
107.29
785.80

YEAR

2002 2003 2004

1999 2000 2001

1998

1997

225



YEAR

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996

1989

SOURCE

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

JAN

46.66
0.01
46.67

41.30
1.90
43.20

47.00
0.00
47.00

50.10
0.50
50.60

45.30
0.80
46.10

26.90
15.30
42.20

45.70
8.70
54.40

51.00
0.00
51.00

FEB

43.40
0.03
43.43

41.10
0.00
41.10

38.60
0.00
38.60

45.70
0.30
46.00

42.20
0.30
42.50

23.10
13.10
36.20

47.00
0.80
47.80

47.90
0.00
47.90

MAR

47.39
0.03
47.42

47.10
0.00
47.10

48.60
0.00
48.60

52.60
0.00
52.60

45.90
0.10
46.00

32.70
0.50
33.20

55.28
0.50
55.78

53.90
0.00
53.90

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE

APR

56.95
0.03
56.98

52.14
0.00
52.14

52.00
0.00
52.00

56.30
0.00
56.30

55.20
0.40
55.60

39.60
0.10
39.70

44.75
18.03
62.78

61.90
1.00
62.90

REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

MAY

66.18
0.03
66.21

53.50
0.00
53.50

54.60
0.10
54.70

68.30
0.10
68.40

64.00
0.50
64.50

48.60
0.10
48.70

31.46
32.30
63.76

57.20
13.80
71.00

JUN

70.83
0.01
70.84

59.00
0.00
59.00

63.40
0.00
63.40

68.80
0.00
68.80

58.10
6.10
64.20

44.10
5.50
49.60

32.34
26.79
59.13

62.20
13.50
75.70

JUL

75.70
0.03
75.73

74.70
0.00
74.70

69.30
0.00
69.30

68.10
0.00
68.10

44.90
22.70
67.60

40.10
15.00
55.10

40.00
22.30
62.30

69.20
17.90
87.10

AUG

77.27
0.02
77.29

74.10
0.00
74.10

47.80
25.00
72.80

69.80
0.00
69.80

41.80
28.10
69.90

34.80
21.60
56.40

38.00
22.20
60.20

60.90
28.00
88.90

SEP

68.23
0.01
68.24

65.40
0.00
65.40

31.70
30.20
61.90

59.80
0.00
59.80

35.00
26.30
61.30

30.50
20.20
50.70

31.91
20.64
52.55

36.30
42.00
78.30

oCT

65.58
0.02
65.60

64.70
0.00
64.70

30.80
27.70
58.50

56.10
0.00
56.10

32.80
25.10
57.90

28.00
21.00
49.00

31.40
20.20
51.60

38.70
22.60
61.30

NOV

50.37
0.02
50.39

55.30
0.00
55.30

28.20
21.20
49.40

51.40
0.00
51.40

34.00
19.50
53.50

26.40
19.70
46.10

29.40
19.30
48.70

42.60
17.60
60.20

49.43
0.02
49.45

47.60
0.00
47.60

26.00
19.90
45.90

43.50
0.00
43.50

43.10
5.50
48.60

30.10
18.70
48.80

29.90
14.90
44.80

40.60
18.20
58.80

ANNUAL
TOTAL

717.99
0.26
718.25

675.94
1.90
677.84

538.00
124.10
662.10

690.50
0.90
691.40

542.30
135.40
677.70

404.90
150.80
555.70

457.14
206.66
663.80

622.40
174.60
797.00

YEAR

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996

1989

226



YEAR

1988

SOURCE

S.S.
S.R.
SS & SR TOTAL

JAN

51.20
0.00
51.20

FEB

57.90
0.00
57.90

MAR

63.20
0.00
63.20

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
GROSS WATER DIVERSION, BY SOURCE
REPORTED IN ACRE-FEET

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG

47.30 57.40 44.20 50.00 51.70
16.30 15.70 30.70 31.20 34.90
63.60 73.10 74.90 81.20 86.60

SEP

41.90
36.00
77.90

oCT

37.40
34.90
72.30

NOV

27.40
35.20
62.60

DEC

36.00
19.00
55.00

ANNUAL
TOTAL

565.60
253.90
819.50

YEAR

1988

227



9D
December 2, 2025 Resources & Infrastructure Report

The Resources & Infrastructure Committee held a Special Meeting on December 2, 2025, 12:00 pm, in person
at the Water Reclamation Facility, located at 990 Sn Simeon Creek Rd, Cambria CA. The purpose of this
meeting was to receive information regarding the ZLD Pilot process and tour the facility.

1.  Opening
Chairperson Dean called the meeting to order at 12:00 pm. A quorum of the Committee was established.

Committee members present were Chairperson Karen Dean, Vice Chair Steven Siebuhr, Secretary Jim Webb,
Mark Meeks, Donn Howell, and Jim Grimaud.

Staft present were General Manager Matthew McElhenie, Confidential Administrative Assistant Haley Dodson,
Utilities Department Manager Jim Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper, Admin Tech Eric Johnson, Water
System Supervisor Cody Meeks, Fire Chief Michael Burkey, and several other members of the Water
Department.

Presenters for the Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) Pilot Project were Clark Easter, Patrick Trembly, and Owen
Larking from Global Water Innovation (GWI), and Michael Green, Jackson Cooper, and Haley Sheridan from
Trevi Systems.

2. Public Comment
There was no public comment on the agenda item.

3. Regular Business: Tour of the Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) and Zero Liquid Discharge
(ZLD) Pilot. No formal action to be taken.

Clark Easter from Global Water Innovations described the ZLD Pilot Process, how the process for our location
here in Cambria differs from inland areas due to the closeness of the ocean, all the various stages the brine goes
through, and the expected results of this pilot project. He noted that at this point of the pilot 95% dewatering
had been obtained, and that he hoped to get that up to 97 to 98% by the end of the pilot process. The remnant
mush from the process was being put into containers to be taken to another location for testing and to see how
much more the resultant mush can be dried out. A tour through the ZLD trailer with an explanation of the
components involved in each stage of the process followed.

Questions were asked regarding how large of a facility would be needed for Cambria to process the brine waste
from the WRF, what the anticipated cost would be for a permanent ZLD facility, the electrical cost, and if it
could be run with solar. Answers to those questions were not available at this time. Mr Easter stated he would
compile the data from the pilot project, and bring a presentation to the Board after the beginning of the year,
hopefully with answers those questions as well.

4. Future Agenda Items: None were proposed.
5. Adjourn: Chair Dean adjourned the meeting at 1:03pm.

Respectfully submitted:

CCSD Director Karen Dean, R&I Committee Chairperson

228



9D
December 15, 2025 Resources & Infrastructure Committee Report

The Resources & Infrastructure Committee Regular Meeting was held December 15, 2025, 2:00 pm, in person
at the Cambria Veterans Memorial Hall and via Zoom.

1. Opening
Chairperson Karen Dean called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm. A quorum was established.
Committee members present were Chair Karen Dean, Vice Chair Steven Siebuhr, Secretary Jim Webb,
Donn Howell, and Jim Grimaud. Committee member Mark Meeks was an excused absence.
Staff members present were General Manager Matthew McElhenie, Confidential Administrative
Assistant Haley Dodson, Utilities Department Manager Jim Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper,
Water Systems Superintendent Cody Meeks, and Administrative Technician Eric Johnson.

Chair Report
Chair Dean announced the results of the election of Board President Harry Farmer and Board Vice
President Karen Dean. A review of the accomplishments of the District during 2025 was given.

Committee Member Communications
There were no reports given.

Utilities Department Manager Report (Time 2:03pm)
Utilities Manager Green reported on the following:

e Water Loss Audit has been completed and validated with City of SLO.

e Urban Water Management Plan is being worked on. This will be brought before the Committee at
a future meeting.

e ZLD Pilot was successful, 98% removal was achieved on the last days of the pilot.

e Adaptive Management Plan is ongoing. Cleveland Biological is doing the field reporting, and Mr
Merk will be doing the finish work on the report.

e San Simeon Transmission line update. State Parks is requesting additional exhibits on location of
potholing and areas of avoidance, so the existing encroachment permit with CalTrans will need
an extension while the additional data requested by State Parks for that right of entry permit is
completed.

e Asecond free EV Charger from Ford has been received and installed at the WWTP, so there is
now a 40 AMP and an 80 Amp EV Charger in place.

e Stuart St Tank Update. Crosno Construction has completed the steel assembly, and has passed all
inspections. Tank has been tented in preparation for sand blasting and coating.

e Water Rights and Diversion Reports have been completed for San Simeon and Santa Rosa Well
Sites. We are looking at a consumption of about 520AF for this year.

e New back up power generator and automatic transfer switch have been installed at the Rodeo
Grounds.

2 Public Comment: There was no public comment on the above items.

3 Consent Agenda: (Time 2:15pm)

229



9D
Consideration to Approve the October 14, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes, October 20, 2025 Special

Meeting Minutes, and December @ Special Meeting Minutes.

The October 14, 2025 minutes were reviewed, there were no edits requested. Motion to approve was made by
Jim Webb, seconded by Jim Grimaud. Motion was approved with 4 Ayes, 0 Nayes, 0 Abstain, 1 Absent
(Meeks).

The October 20, 2025 Special Meeting Minutes were reviewed, there were no edits requested. Motion to
approve was made by Steven Siebuhr, seconded by Jim Webb. Motion approved with 4 Ayes, 0 Nayes, 0
Abstain, 1 Absent (Meeks).

The December 2, 2025 Special Meeting Minutes were not in the agenda packet, so will be reviewed at the next
R&I Meeting.

4 Regular Business

4.A. Discussion and Consideration of the Updated Sanitary Sewer Management Plan and Consider
Forwarding a Recommendation to the CCSD Board of Directors (2:18pm)

Utility Department Manager Green reviewed the Sanitary Sewer Management Plan, also known as the Sewer
Systems Management Plan. This document provides a plan and schedule to properly manage, operate, and
maintain all parts of the wastewater collection system to reduce any any instances or conditions that could
cause a sanitary sewer overflow and mitigate any overflows that do occur. This is for planning, scheduling, and
maintaining the the sewer system, distribution system, and booster/lift stations. This plan is to be updated every
six years, although this update is a bit overdue. This is an extensive 165 page document, and involved the
efforts of Utilities Manager Green, Program Manager Reaper, Wastewater Superintendent Artho, with assistance
from MKN. Regulatory requirements and the updates to this huge document were discussed in great detail.

A motion to forward the Updated Sewer System Management Plan to the CCSD Board of Directors was made
by Donn Howell, seconded by Steven Siebuhr. Motion passed with 4 Ayes, 0 Nayes, 0 Abstain, 1 Absent
(Meeks).

4.B. Receive and Discuss the Updated Prioritized CIP List and General Fund CIP Budget Requests and
Consideration to Forward the Updated CIP Lists to the Finance Committee for Review In the 2025/2026
Fiscal Year Preliminary Budget (Time:2:55pm)

Level 1 Priority CIP Projects for Water and Wastewater Department were discussed for the coming year.

Projects requested for budgeting for the water department included Leimert tank back up generator replacement
and SCADA rewrite, other SCADA upgrades, the SR4 road, repair or replacement of Pembrook water main,
continuing the replacement of brass water meter bodies, San Simeon Transmission lines, Tank Asset
Management program, Lead and Copper Updates, SS3 Trench and P/S Install for Back Up power. Some of
these were multi year projects, and additional items were listed as Level 2 & 3 priority.

Level 1 Priority CIP Projects requested for for the Wastewater Department included Lift Station B4 Rebuild,
Lab Roof and Flashing Replacement, Lab Leak Repair and Flooring Replacement, Effluent Pump Station
Level/Flow/pH, Piping and Flood Control for Sludge Thickening South Digester, Fencing and Gate Repair at
WWTP, Backup MLE Blower, Polymer Skid, Phased MH and sewer Main Replacement.

230



9D
Committee member Jim Grimaud made a motion to forward the CIP requests to the Finance Committee for
review, motion seconded by Jim Webb. Motion passed with 4 Ayes, 0 Nayes, 0 Abstains, 1 Absent (Meeks).

4.C. Review the 2026 Resources & Infrastructure Meetings Regular Meeting Schedule (Time:3:40pm)

The meeting dates reviewed for 2026 were January 12, 2026, April 13, 2026, August 17, 2026, and December
14, 2026, all at 2:00pm. Additional Special Meetings can be called if needed.

5. Future Agenda Items (Time: 3:43pm)

Chair Dean asked for future agenda items. Mentioned were the Stuart St Tank Update, and the Santa Rosa
Creek Stream Bank Restoration.

6. Adjourn (Time: 3:43pm)
Chair Dean adjourned the meeting at 3:43pm.
Respectfully submitted’

Director Karen Dean, R & I Committee Chairperson

231



9E
CTB December 9, 2025 Meeting Summary for the CCSD Board of Directors

The Cambria Tourism Board (CTB) held a meeting December 9, 2025, 1:14-1:52 PM at the Cambria Pines
Lodge. The meeting was called to order by Vice Chair George Marschall at 1:14 PM with 3 CTB Board
Members present: Jim Bahringer, Karen Cartwright, and George Marschall, as well as CTB Managing Assistant
Jill Jackson, Unincorporated SLO County Tourism Business Improvement District (CBID) Chief
Administrative Officer (CAO) Cheryl Cuming, and Jessica Blanchfield with Archer & Hound Advertising.
Georgia Legg and Angel Gonzalez, who were voted on to the CTB at the September meeting, but awaiting
confirmation from the County, were also present.

4.1 Cambria Center for the Arts Event Funding Application, pages 5-19 of the agenda packet

The Cambria Center for the Arts (CCA) submitted a funding application to assist with costs for marketing of the
2026 Cambria Film Festival event to bring in more out of area visitors. The CCA requested $4,500, 7% of the
overall $62,000 budget. The Cambria Film Festival is scheduled Wednesday-Sunday, February 4-8, 2026.
Following discussions, Jim Bahringer made the motion to approve the application, Karen Cartwright seconded
the motion, and the motion passed unanimously.

5. Information Items/Presentations:

5.1 Marketing Report, pages 19-34 of the agenda packet, Jessica Blanchfield provided a summary of her very
informative Marketing Report.

5.2-5.3 CBID Reports, Cheryl Cuming, provided a summary of her very informative Highway 1 Road Trip
(HITA) Marketing Overview, pages 35-39

5.4 Budget Reports were included, pages 40-42 of the agenda packet.
5.5 Marketing Committee Report, pages 43-78 of the agenda packet

The meeting was adjourned at 1:52 PM.

The next CTB Meeting is scheduled Tuesday January 13, 2026, at 1:00 PM at the Cambria Pines Lodge, in the
Treetop Room.

For reference, Cambria Tourism Board information, including agendas and meeting packets are available on the
following website: https://visitcambriaca.com/ctb-member-information/

Respectfully submitted by Michael Thomas, CCSD Board of Directors

8E - Att 01.docx Page 1of 1 Written: December 9, 2025

232


https://cambriafilmfestival.com/
https://visitcambriaca.com/ctb-member-information/

9E
Friends of the Fiscalini Ranch Preserve December 16th, 2025 meeting summary

The meeting was called to order by Chair Dianne Anderson at 3:04 PM. Also attending in person are Vice
Chair Tom Loganbill, Secretary John Nixon, Treasurer Mary Maher, Executive Director Kitty Connolly,
Assistant to the ED Barbara Beuche, Board members Bob Detweiler, Cathleen Campe, Shari Robasciotti, Keith
Seydel, Annika Keeley, Education Coordinator Suzanne Fiedler, and CCSD Board President and FFRP liaison
Harry Farmer. In attendance via Zoom are CCSD General Manager Matthew McElhenie, CCSD Board
members Karen Dean and Michael Thomas, and CCSD Facilities and Resources Supervisor David

Aguirre. Absent was FFRP Board member Jose Luis Sanchez.

A motion to approve the Minutes of the November 18th, 2025 meeting was made by Mary Maher, with a
second by Vice Chair Loganbill. Board approval was unanimous.

A motion to approve the Minutes of the November 18th, Closed Session meeting was made by Mary Maher,
with a second by Cathleen Campe. Board approval was again unanimous.

Under Public Comment, Harry Farmer gave a brief overview of the Cambria Skatepark Celebration on Sunday,
December 14th. A large crowd of folks of all ages had a wonderful time. Almost 50 skateboards were given
away, mostly to the very enthusiastic youth in attendance, with the youngest being a three year old girl. Free
hot dogs and music added to the festivities.

Under Matters for Discussion, the 2026 Budget was briefly addressed, with no significant changes noted. The
motion to approve the Budget was made by Bob Detweiler, with a second by Shari Robasciotti. Board approval
was unanimous.

Application for Board membership by Steve Sandke was discussed. Mary Maher stated that his application was
complete, and she described him as, “an easy going guy.” He has done much volunteer work in town, including
working on the Ranch. Shari Robasciotti remarked she was, “looking forward to him being on the Board”. ED
Connolly added he was recommended by Ranch work volunteer coordinator Michael Thomas. The motion to
approve his election to the Board was made by Ms Robasciooti, with a second by Annika Keeley. Board
approval was unanimous. Due to a prior obligation Mr Sandke was unable to attend today’s Board meeting, but
he will be present at the January 26, 2026 Annual and monthly Board meetings.

Executive Director Connolly began her report by stating she recently met with CCSD Utilities Manager Jim
Green, Program Manager Tristan Reaper, and Administrative Assistant Eric Johnson. FFRP Board member
Keith Seydel also attended. They gathered in person at Santa Rosa Creek discuss the extreme harm done as a
result of the very heavy rain and flooding that took place in January of 2023. Much erosion occured which has
not been resolved, therefore there’s a very serious need to stabilize the creek and avoid sewage outfall into the
creek. Vice Chair Loganbill remarked the project, “...could take a year, maybe more.”

Ms Connolly recommended the drafting of a letter that would be sent to various agencies to obtain their support
for the project.

A motion to approve the drafting of a letter was made by Vice Chair Loganbill, with a second by Keith
Seydel. Board approval was unanimous.

Facilities and Resources Supervisor David Aguirre began his report with an update on chipping that has been
placed on Victoria Way. Also, 27 trees have been cut down, which has created much debris that will be cleaned
up. He said the Dolphin Trail will be closed down for a few days in anticipation of upcoming rain. He also
recently caught a couple of folks foraging for mushrooms and diplomatically gave them a much needed warning
not to do so. Regarding tree planting, he stated soon a number of 15 gallon, six foot tall Monterey Pines on the

233



9E
East Ranch. Recently David successfully took the County test which gives him approval for spraying
herbicides on the Ranch. He said he has spoken with local horticulturist and tree expert Paul Williams
regarding rooming invasive plants on the Ranch in February.

ED Connolly thanked David for the “mountain of wood chips” he and his crew provided for the December 13th
habitat planting. She added the End of the Year Appeal has many folks proactive, including donating Stock,
“...in part due to David’s hard work.” Kitty also announced she would be gone the first week in January.

Dianne Anderson began her Chair Repot by first highlighting the 25th Anniversary Year of FFRP which
included the Founders Dinner in May at Robin’s Restaurant, as well as the Volunteer Celebration at Stolo
Winery in October. She thanked everyone who has played a role in the caring for, and fundraising for the
Ranch, including thanking Mr Aguirre for his efforts. She then reminded all Committee Chairpersons they
need to provide their Goals and Objectives for the coming year that will be discussed at the January 2026
Annual Board meeting.

Cathleen Campe from the Development Committee said the annual December “Songs for the Seasons”
fun/fundraiser was well received, and a little money was made as well. About 100 folks attended, including
volunteers.

Education Coordinator Suzanne Fiedler reported recently about three dozen third graders from the Cambria
Grammar School took a tour of the Ranch, walking the upper Forest Loop Trail, They broke up into four
groups, and the event lasted about 1 1/4 hours. Teachers and students alike were quite enthusiastic throughout,
including one young girl who leaped up on a log and exclaimed, “I LOVE NATURE!!” Forms were distributed
to teachers and students to get feedback on the experience, Ms Fiedler says she’s waiting to receive them.

Treasurer Maher began her Finance Report by stating payroll issues have mostly been resolved. She added that
a recent donation totaled, “more than $10,000.”

Ranch Committee Chair Loganbill reported mustard has shown up earlier than usual, and he has already seen a
few poppies as well.

Restoration Committee Chair Keeley was happy to announce that this past Saturday, December 13th, 413 plants
of several different species were planted on the Ranch and watered.

Executive Director Connolly wound down the meeting by commenting on all the various individuals, groups
and Agencies that have been involved with the Ranch this past year, including a group of very committed
volunteers from the Sierra Club from other areas of California who spent seven hours a day for two days
improving the appearance of the Ranch. She also added that the Resource Conservation Forest Health Grant
that will tremendously benefit the well being of the Ranch has made very little progress so far.

At this point a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Mary Mabher, with a second from Vice Chair
Loganbill. The vote to approve was unanimous, and Chair Anderson adjourned the meeting at 3:50PM.

The next Friends of the Fiscalini Ranch meeting will be on Saturday, January 24th, 2026, a combination of the
Annual meeting as well as the January Monthly meeting. The Annual meeting will begin at I0AM at the
Cambria Center for the Arts Community Room, 1350 Main St. Lunch will be served. There will not be a
February monthly meeting.

This FFRP meeting summary has been written and submitted by CCSD Board President and FFRP Liaison
Harry Farmer.

234



9E
Cambria Forest Committee December 12, 2025 meeting summary

Chair Crosby Swartz called the meeting to order at 10:06AM. Also in attendance were Treasurer Laura Swartz,
CFC Board member Julie Jorgensen, Friends of the Fiscalini Ranch Preserve (FFRP) Kitty Connolly,
Greenspace Board Vice President Donni Morgan, Upper Salinas-Las Tablas Resource Conservation
District(US-LT RCD) Project Manager Spencer Gordon, Christine Heinrichs, and Cambria Community
Services District(CCSD) Board Director and CFC liaison Harry Farmer.

The meeting began with the Treasurer’s Report, with Ms Swartz stating there no changes in the bank account,
with the total still at $1239.06. She added a possible domain name change could affect the balance amount, but
at present, “we’re constant”.

Organizational Reports began with an update from FFRP Executive Director Kitty Connolly highlighting three
consecutive Saturday events. First was the annual Ranch tree planting on November 29th. About 350 trees and
shrubs were planted by 25 people in roughly 2 hours. This past Saturday featured “Songs for the Season”, the
always enjoyable fun(d)raiser at Fogs End. Then tomorrow December 13th will be the Habitat planting of
roughly 600-900 4” plants. She’s anticipating a large turnout, including folks from out of the area.

Donni Morgan from Greenspace informed us that four different properties are being offered to GS for donation,
each providing different qualities for development or preservation, including native plant gardens. The GS
Board is looking forward to acting on this opportunity next week. Yesterday evening, December 11th, GS had
their Holiday gathering that was a lot of fun, and which included honoring Mary Webb, who has resigned from
the GS Board after 25 years of committed and dedicated service! Donni added, “we are sad to see her go,
though she will still be involved on an advisory basis”. Also, the GS Speaker Series will continue on Sunday,
January 11th at the Unitarian Universalist Church on Arlington St featuring Lisa Murphy and the snapshot still
photo project, plus a Film Series with two documentaries is on the horizon. Donni ended her report by
informing us that yesterday 30 volunteers from the Sierra Club enjoyed doing gardening work at both
Pocahontas Park and the Creekside Reserve. Brian Keeley led the effort.

Kitty then remarked that recently the very industrious Sierra Club volunteers had also worked for two days on
the Fiscalini Ranch, pulling ice plant and mustard, plus watering!

Spencer Gordon from US-LT RCD initiated his presentation by informing us they have a new Executive
Director, Drew Loganbill, son of FFRP Board Vice President Tom Loganbill. He then began a presentation on
SLO-RESIL(San Luis Obispo Regional Ecological Strategy for Improving Landscapes), developed by US-LT
RCD to work in conjunction with various local entities. He stated this operation will be more applicable to
larger type projects. And while some property owners have offered for work to be done on one or two acre
parcels, projects such as these would not be cost effective, as various required biological or archeological
reports are quite expensive, upwards of $40,000. However, he does encourage small parcel owners to reach out
to him along with other neighbors, as he can put many parcels into a pool and apply for future grant funding for
forest health and fuel reduction activities. When asked if FFRP could be involved with SLO-RESIL, Spencer
stated this would not be necessary, as the Ranch already has an Environmental Impact Report(EIR), and has
done the required studies.

When asked how the work that was done in Strawberry Canyon was different from SLO-RESIL, Spencer stated
that grant funding for forest health and fuel reduction had been obtained by Greenspace for that project,
therefore meeting needed requirements. As for any work of this type that might be requested by the Cambria
Community Services District(CCSD), he remarked that CCSD does not presently have the required permitting
or funding sources to move forward with extensive forest health and fuel reduction activities on parcels they
own. When again asked about the Fiscalini Ranch Preserve, Spencer said work on the Ranch has been funded
by the Fire Safe Council and permitted, so is therefore very much “shovel ready”. He added that with many

235



9E
projects always in one degree or another of being proposed and action taken, it’s best to go to the SLO County
Fire Safe Council web site for any information.

Ms Connolly then spoke to this issue, stating that not much progress has been made regarding work needing to
be done on the Ranch, as “it’s probably the heaviest treated forest in Cambria, therefore the lowest priority for
treatment.” She said distribution of wood chips on the trails is currently getting much attention.

A discussion then took place regarding Fern Canyon, with Laura and Crosby expressing their concern that the
CCSD might be initiating some “fuel reduction” in the near future as had been implied by CCSD General
Manager McElhenie a number of months ago. Spencer said he knew nothing on this matter.

Minutes later the topic changed as Ms Swartz commented on goats having no problem eating cape ivy, a long
standing invasive problem in some areas of Cambria. Ms Connolly added that in the past goats had been used
to eat cape ivy on the East Ranch. Spencer then added that US-LT RCD is working on a grazing plan regarding
goats through SLO-RESIL, and there’s funding available to do so, but this would have to be approved by the
Coastal Commission. With some humor he added, “even with a haircut it will come right back.” Various
strategies were then discussed regarding the removal of cape ivy, while total elimination is nearly impossible.

Crosby then went to the next item of Business, that being the domain name of the Cambria Forest

Committee. Due to difficulty with GoDaddy changing over the person overseeing the site to Crosby, currently
the CFC web site is not available to access. Crosby said he didn’t think this would be a big problem, and he’d
keep us posted.

Crosby then asked if anyone had a subject they wished to address, Kitty informed us the CCSD is planning to
repair the bank of Santa Rosa Creek that was drastically damaged in the flood of January 2023, and serious
erosion has taken place that is endangering exposure of the sewage line nearby. Apparently the District is in
touch with the various Local, State and Federal Agencies who would need to oversee and approve any action
taking place, which Kitty said she found, “highly reassuring, because there are endangered species in the
creek.”

Discussion then took place as to the next Forest Committee meeting which would normally be scheduled for
Friday, January 9th. Crosby said he’d be sending out a questionnaire as to what preference folks would have

regarding January 9th or the 16th. Brief feedback indicated the 16th would be the preferred date.

Donnie then informed us that Greenspace is going to have a photo contest for a video they’ll be producing in
2026 that would capture photos of wildlife and forested areas of Cambria.

With many wishes from everyone for Happy Holidays, Chair Swartz adjourned the meeting at 10:56 AM.
The next Cambria Forest Committee meeting will likely be Friday, January 16th, at 10AM via Zoom.

This meeting summary has been written and submitted by CCSD Board President Harry Farmer.

236





